UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORP \PA\ Form DEF 14A April 25, 2019

T	TNT	ITED	CTA	TEC
ι	JIN.	ITED	$\mathbf{SIA}$	LES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

#### SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No. )

Filed by the Registrant

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant

Check the appropriate box:

Preliminary Proxy Statement

Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

**Definitive Proxy Statement** 

**Definitive Additional Materials** 

Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORPORATION

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

No fee required.

Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.

(1) Title of each class of securities to which the transaction applies:

(2) Aggregate number of securities to which the transaction applies:

(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of the transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of the transaction:
(5)Total fee paid:
Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.  Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.  (1) Amount Previously Paid:
(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3) Filing Party:
(4) Date Filed:

#### UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORPORATION

375 Phillips Boulevard

Ewing, New Jersey 08618

#### NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TO BE HELD JUNE 20, 2019

#### Dear Shareholders:

You are cordially invited to attend our 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders on Thursday, June 20, 2019 at 2:00 p.m., Eastern Time, at the Element Ewing Princeton hotel located at 1000 Sam Weinroth Road East, Ewing, New Jersey 08628. We are holding the meeting to:

- (1) Elect seven members of our Board of Directors to hold one-year terms:
- (2) Approve an advisory resolution regarding executive officer compensation;
- (3) Ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019; and
- (4) Transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any postponements or adjournments thereof

If you were the holder of record of shares of our common stock or Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock at the close of business on April 5, 2019, you are entitled to notice of, and may vote at, the annual meeting. You may also vote in advance of the meeting, as described in the proxy statement. Any such shareholder on April 5, 2019 may vote in person at the meeting, even if he or she has already voted before the meeting. A list of all shareholders of record will be made available for review by registered shareholders both at the meeting and, during regular business hours for 10 days prior to the meeting, at our headquarters at 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618.

The proxy statement and our 2018 Annual Report to Shareholders are available free of charge at ir.oled.com.

We look forward to seeing you at the meeting.

Sincerely,
By: /s/ Sidney D. Rosenblatt
Sidney D. Rosenblatt
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Secretary

Ewing, New Jersey April 25, 2019

Your vote is important. We encourage you to promptly complete, sign, date and return the proxy card, or vote by phone or on the Internet as described in the proxy statement, whether or not you expect to attend the annual meeting in person. If you are a shareholder of record and you attend the meeting in person, you may revoke your proxy and vote your shares at that time.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROXY STATEMENT FOR 2019 ANNUAL MEETING OF	1
SHAREHOLDERS	
VOTING AT THE ANNUAL MEETING	2
HOW YOU CAN VOTE	
PROPOSAL 1 – ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	.3
Nominees For Election as Directors	.3
Vote Required and Recommendation of our Board of Directors.	. 5
Director Independence	
Board and Committee Meetings; Annual Meeting Attendance	
Director Nominations	.6
Board Leadership Structure	.7
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE	.8
REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE	10
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	.10
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	10
Summary Compensation Table	.21
Grants of Plan-Based Awards	. 23
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table	.24
Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table	
Pension Benefits Table	. 25
Potential Payments Upon Termination in Connection with a	25
Change in Control	
Compensation of Directors	
Equity Compensation Plans	
PROPOSAL 2 – ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE OFFICE	EB0
COMPENSATION	
Vote Required and Recommendation of our Board of Directors	
PROPOSAL 3 – RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF	F31
KPMG LLP	
Vote Required and Recommendation of our Board of Directors	31
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL	32
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial	32
Owners	
Security Ownership of	33
Management	
CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS	
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING	34
COMPLIANCE	
RISK OVERSIGHT BY OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS	
ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT	
Code of Ethics and Business Conduct for	35
Employees	
Code of Conduct for Directors	
Corporate Governance Guidelines	. 36

Edgar Filing: UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORP \PA\ - Form DEF 14A				
Corporate Responsibility		36		

#### UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORPORATION

375 Phillips Boulevard

Ewing, New Jersey 08618

#### PROXY STATEMENT FOR 2019 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TO BE HELD JUNE 20, 2019

## INFORMATION CONCERNING THIS SOLICITATION

The Board of Directors of Universal Display Corporation ("we", "us" or the "Company") is soliciting proxies for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Thursday, June 20, 2019, at 2:00 p.m., Eastern Time, at the Element Ewing Princeton hotel located at 1000 Sam Weinroth Road East, Ewing, New Jersey 08628 (the "Annual Meeting"). This proxy statement contains important information for shareholders to consider when deciding how to vote on the matters brought before the Annual Meeting. Please read it carefully.

At the Annual Meeting, our shareholders will be asked to vote upon:

- (1) the election of seven members of our Board of Directors to hold one-year terms;
- (2) a proposal to approve an advisory resolution regarding executive officer compensation;
- (3) a proposal to ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019; and
- (4) such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any postponements or adjournments thereof.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of

Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be Held on June 20, 2019

This proxy statement and our 2018 Annual Report to Shareholders are available free of charge at ir.oled.com.

#### PROXY MATERIALS

Our Board of Directors has set April 5, 2019 as the record date for the Annual Meeting (the "Record Date"). As of the Record Date, we had outstanding 47,160,940 shares of common stock and 200,000 shares of Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock.

Beginning on or about April 25, 2019, we are sending proxy materials to "registered holders" as of the Record Date. Registered holders are those shareholders whose shares are registered directly in their names with our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

Beginning on or about April 25, 2019, we are sending a Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") to "beneficial owners" of our stock as of the Record Date. Beneficial owners are those shareholders whose shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record; such shareholders are also sometimes referred to as "street name" holders. Beneficial owners may view proxy materials on the Internet, and may also request and receive a paper or e-mail copy of the proxy materials by following the instructions provided in the Notice.

We will pay the expenses of these solicitations. Proxies may also be solicited by telephone or in person by some of our officers, directors and regular employees or independent contractors, who will not be specially engaged or compensated for such services.

Our principal executive offices are located at 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618. Our general telephone number is (609) 671-0980.

#### **VOTING AT THE ANNUAL MEETING**

Each holder of our common stock or Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock as of the Record Date is entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting. Holders of our common stock and Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock vote together as a single class on all matters.

Only shareholders of record who own shares (whether as a registered holder or a beneficial owner) as of the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to notice of, or to vote at, the Annual Meeting. The presence, in person or by proxy, of shareholders entitled to cast at least a majority of the votes that all shareholders are entitled to cast on a particular matter to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting will constitute a quorum for purposes of that matter. Shareholders of record who return a proxy card but abstain from voting or fail to vote on a particular matter will be considered "present" for quorum purposes with respect to the matter. In addition, shares held by brokers or nominees who have notified us on a proxy card or otherwise in accordance with industry practice that they have not received voting instructions with respect to a particular matter and that they lack or have declined to exercise voting authority with respect to such matter (referred to in this proxy statement as "uninstructed shares"), will be considered "present" for quorum purposes with respect to the matter. Votes not cast by brokers or nominees with respect to uninstructed shares are referred to in this proxy statement as "broker non-votes."

The persons named in the proxy will vote the shares represented by each properly executed proxy as directed therein. In the absence of such direction on a properly executed proxy card, the persons named in the proxy will vote "FOR" the persons nominated by our Board of Directors for election as directors; "FOR" the proposal to approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of our executive officers; and "FOR" ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019. As to other items of business that may properly be presented at the Annual Meeting for action, the persons named in the proxy will vote the shares represented by the proxy in accordance with their best judgment.

A shareholder of record (whether a registered holder or a beneficial owner) may revoke his or her proxy at any time before its exercise by giving written notice of such revocation to our Corporate Secretary. In addition, any shareholder of record (whether a registered holder or a beneficial owner) may vote by ballot at the Annual Meeting, even if he or she has already voted prior to the Annual Meeting, in accordance with the procedure set forth below.

You may own shares of our stock both as a registered holder and as a beneficial owner, in which case you will receive proxy materials as well as the Notice. To vote all of your shares, you will vote your "registered" shares based on the instructions in the proxy card, and your "beneficially-owned" shares based on the instructions in the Notice, by any of the methods set forth below.

The preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting. The final results will be reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K to be filed within four business days following the date of the Annual Meeting.

#### HOW YOU CAN VOTE

Your vote is important. You may vote by any of the following methods:

By telephone or You may vote by proxy by telephone or via the Internet by following the instructions provided in the via the Internet. Notice, proxy card or voting instruction card.

By mail. If you received printed copies of the proxy materials by mail (whether initially or upon request), you

may vote by proxy by signing and returning the proxy card or voting instruction card by mail.

In person. Registered holders and beneficial owners with shares held in street name (held in the name of a

broker or other nominee) may vote in person at the Annual Meeting. Beneficial owners with shares held in street name must obtain a legal proxy from their broker or other nominee to vote in person at

the Annual Meeting.

If you vote by telephone or via the Internet, please have your Notice or proxy card available. The control number appearing on your Notice or proxy card is necessary to process your vote. A telephone or Internet vote authorizes the named proxies in the same manner as if you marked, signed and returned a proxy card by mail.

#### PROPOSAL 1

#### **ELECTION OF DIRECTORS**

Our Board of Directors has fixed the number of directors at eight, seven of whom are to be elected at the Annual Meeting. One of our current directors, Rosemarie Greco, who has served as a member of the Board of Directors since 2015, will not stand for reelection following the completion of her term at the Annual Meeting. The Board of Directors thanks Ms. Greco for her considered and thoughtful service and provides her best wishes on her pursuit of her many other interests. Our Board of Directors has approved the reduction of the number of directors on the Board to seven, effective immediately following the Annual Meeting. Each director elected will serve until our next annual meeting of shareholders and such time as a successor has been selected and qualified, or until the director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Each nominee has consented to being nominated and to serve if elected. If any nominee should subsequently decline or be unable to serve, the persons named in the proxy will vote for the election of such substitute nominee as shall be determined by them in accordance with their best judgment.

Pursuant to our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, the holder of our Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock is entitled to nominate and elect two of the members of our Board of Directors. The holder of the Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock has waived this right with respect to the election of directors at the Annual Meeting.

All seven nominees are presently members of our Board of Directors whose terms expire at the Annual Meeting. We recommend voting "FOR" the nominees set forth below. The experience, qualifications, attributes and skills set forth next to each nominee's name have led our Board of Directors to conclude that these nominees should serve as members of our Board of Directors.

Nominees For Election as Directors

Year First Became Director,

Principal Occupations and

Name of Director Age Certain Directorships

Sherwin I. Seligsohn 83 Mr. Seligsohn is

our Founder and has been the

Chairman of our

Board of

Directors since

June 1995. He

also served as our Chief Executive

Officer from June

Officer from June

1995 through

December 2007,

and as our

President from

June 1995

through May

1996. Mr.

Seligsohn serves

as a director and

as President and

Secretary of

American

**Biomimetics** 

Corporation,

International

Multi-Media

Corporation, and

Wireless Unified

Network Systems

Corporation. He

corporation.

was also

previously the

Chairman of the

Board of

Directors,

President and

Chief Executive

Officer of

NanoFlex Power

Corporation

(formerly known

as Global

Photonic Energy

Corporation)

("NanoFlex") until

April 2012, when

he resigned from

his positions at

NanoFlex. Since

that time, Mr.

Seligsohn's only

relationship with

NanoFlex is as a

shareholder and

option holder.

From June 1990

to October 1991,

Mr. Seligsohn

was Chairman

Emeritus of

InterDigital

Communications,

Inc. ("InterDigital"),

formerly

International

Mobile Machines

Corporation. He

founded

InterDigital and from August 1972 to June 1990 served as its Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Seligsohn is a member of the Industrial **Advisory Board** of the Princeton Institute for the Science and Technology of Materials ("PRISM") at Princeton University.

Mr. Seligsohn's extensive experience in technological innovation and, as our founder, his long history with our Company and its technology provide compelling attributes which have contributed to his leadership of the Company. As a result of these opportunities, Mr. Seligsohn is well equipped to provide strategic guidance to the Company.

Year First Became Director,

Steven V.

Abramson

67

71

Name of Director Age Principal Occupations and Certain Directorships

Mr. Abramson is our President and Chief Executive Officer, and has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 1996. Mr. Abramson served as our President and Chief Operating Officer from May 1996 through December 2007. From March 1992 to May 1996, Mr. Abramson was Vice President, General Counsel, Secretary and Treasurer of Roy F. Weston, Inc., a worldwide environmental consulting and engineering firm. From December 1982 to December 1991, Mr. Abramson held various positions at InterDigital, including General Counsel, Executive Vice President and General Manager of the Technology Licensing Division.

Mr. Abramson's extensive experience in international business and long history with our Company are compelling attributes which have contributed to his leadership of the Company. His leadership roles in the OLED and technological fields have provided him

with valuable opportunities to interact with business leaders in market segments of importance to the Company. Mr. Abramson is well equipped to lead the Company in its dealings with the business community and the public sector.

Sidney D. Rosenblatt Mr. Rosenblatt is an Executive Vice President and has been our Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary since June 1995. He also has been a member of our Board of Directors since May 1996. Mr. Rosenblatt was the owner of S. Zitner Company from August 1990 through August 2010 and served as its President from August 1990 through December 1998. From May 1982 to August 1990, Mr. Rosenblatt served as the Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of InterDigital, Mr. Rosenblatt is on the Board of Managers of the Overbrook School for the Blind and previously served as a member of the Board of Careers through Culinary Arts Program.

Mr. Rosenblatt's extensive experience in public company financial matters and long history with our Company are compelling attributes which have contributed to his leadership of the Company. His leadership in investor relations and familiarity with the OLED industry have provided him with significant experience of value to the Company. Mr. Rosenblatt is well equipped to lead the Company in its dealings with the for-profit and not-for-profit communities and the public sector.

Richard C. Elias 65

Chair, Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee

Mr. Elias has been a member of our Board of Directors since April 2014. Mr. Elias retired from PPG Industries, Inc. prior to joining our Board. Prior to his retirement, Mr. Elias served as the Senior Vice President - Optical and Specialty Materials of PPG Industries, Inc. from July 2008 through March 30, 2014. From April 2000 through June 2008, Mr. Elias held the position of Vice President, Optical Products of PPG Industries, Inc. Mr. Elias was a director of Black Box Corporation (NASDAQ: "BBOX") until January 7, 2019 when the company was purchased by AGC Networks and became a non-public company, and previously served as a member of its Compensation Committee and its Nominating & Governance Committee.

Mr. Elias' significant experience as a corporate executive, including more than 20 years of senior management experience for a global manufacturer and distributor that experienced significant growth and expansion, has given him strong insights which enable him to contribute to the Company in a variety of areas, including product development, sales and marketing, budgeting, strategic planning, operations and executive management. Mr. Elias' prior service on the board of another public company also enables him to share best practices

observed from his other experiences.

Year First Became Director,

Name of Director Elizabeth H. Gemmill

73

Age Principal Occupations and Certain Directorships

•Lead Independent Director Ms. Gemmill has been a member of our Board of Directors since April 1997 and has served as the Lead Independent Director since February 20, 2018. She is also on the Boards of The Franklin Institute, Delaware Valley University and Arden Theatre Company, and on the advisory board of WSFS Financial Corporation (NASDAQ: "WSFS"). Ms. Gemmill is also a Board Leadership Fellow of the National Association of Corporate Directors. Since March 1999, she has been Managing Trustee and, more recently, President of the Warwick Foundation until the Foundation was dissolved in 2012. From February 1988 to March 1999, Ms. Gemmill was Vice President and Secretary of Tasty Baking Company. Ms. Gemmill is the former Chairman of the Board of Philadelphia University (1998-2009). She previously served as a director of Beneficial Bancorp, Inc. (NASDAQ: "BNCL"), WHYY, Inc., the Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine, the YMCA of Philadelphia and Vicinity, The Presbyterian Foundation (where she served as the Chairman of the Board until June 2018), American Water Works Company, Inc. until it was sold in early 2003, and Philadelphia Consolidated Holdings Corporation until it was sold in December 2008.

•Chair,
Compensation
Committee

Ms. Gemmill's extensive background as a public company executive, as well as long history on for-profit and not-for-profit boards, has given her strong insights and the ability to assist our Board on matters of corporate oversight and governance, and critical experience regarding public company oversight matters. Her membership on the board of another public company and her previous experience on public company audit committees also enable her to share best practices observed from these experiences. Ms. Gemmill also

C. Keith Hartley

dit

76

demonstrates a strong commitment to the local community in her various not-for-profit roles. Mr. Hartley has been a member of our Board of Directors since September 2000. Since June 2000, he has been the President of Hartley Capital Advisors, a merchant banking firm. From August 1995 to May 2000, he was the managing partner of Forum Capital Markets LLC, an investment banking company. In the past, Mr. Hartley held the position of managing partner for Peers & Co. and Drexel Burnham Lambert, Inc. He serves as a director and is on various committees of Swisher International Group, Inc. He also previously served as a director of Idera Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

•Chair, Audit Committee

Mr. Hartley's significant experience in the investment banking industry gives him strong insights into areas such as corporate finance and strategic transactions, enabling him to contribute to the Company in a variety of areas, including strategic planning, finance and executive management. Mr. Hartley's past experience on the boards of other public companies also provides him with valuable insight into corporate governance practices.

Lawrence Lacerte

66

Mr. Lacerte has been a member of our Board of Directors since October 1999. Since July 1998, he has been Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Exponent Technologies, Inc., a company specializing in technology and Internet-related ventures. Prior to that time, he was the founder, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Lacerte Software Corp., which was sold to Intuit Corporation in June 1998.

•Chair, Investment Committee

Mr. Lacerte's varied career as the founder of a successful software company allows him to bring to the Board a diverse combination of business, operational and strategic knowledge and skills.

Vote Required and Recommendation of our Board of Directors

At the Annual Meeting, each director will be elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to that director at the meeting. For these purposes, a vote of the majority of the votes cast means that the number of shares voted "for" a director exceeds 50% of the votes cast with respect to that director. Abstentions on this proposal are not considered "votes cast" and will have no effect on the outcome of the vote. Similarly, broker non-votes are not considered "votes cast" with respect to this proposal and, therefore, will have no effect on the outcome of the vote. Shareholders do not have cumulative voting rights with regard to the election of members of our Board of Directors.

#### THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" EACH OF THE NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR.

## Director Independence

Our Board of Directors has established a Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee, whose duties include, among others, making recommendations for approval to the full Board of Directors with regard to director independence. In 2018, the members of our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee were Mr. Hartley (Chair), Mr. Elias, Ms. Gemmill, and Mr. Lacerte. The current members of our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee are Mr. Elias (Chair), Ms. Gemmill, and Mr. Hartley. Each member of our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee is an independent director under the NASDAQ listing requirements. Our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee operates pursuant to a written charter that was last reviewed by the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and approved by our Board of Directors on April 12, 2019. A copy of the charter is publicly available through the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com.

After the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee makes its recommendations to the Board of Directors with regard to director independence, our Board of Directors considers and approves these recommendations. In so doing, the Board of Directors has determined that a majority of its members are "independent directors" within the meaning of applicable NASDAQ listing requirements. Our independent directors are Mr. Elias, Ms. Gemmill, Ms. Greco, Mr. Hartley and Mr. Lacerte. In addition, based on these listing requirements, our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Seligsohn, Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt are not independent directors because they are all officers of the Company.

Our independent directors meet in executive session on a periodic basis in connection with regularly-scheduled meetings of the full Board of Directors, as well as in their capacity as members of our Audit, Compensation, Environmental & Social Responsibility, Investment, and Nominating & Corporate Governance Committees, as applicable.

In evaluating director independence, the disinterested members of our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and the Board of Directors considered our relationship with Exponent Technologies, Inc. ("Exponent"). Exponent is a provider of information system services for payroll, benefits and human resources management. Mr. Lacerte is Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Exponent. For 2018, we paid a total of approximately \$49,005 to Exponent in connection with its provision of these services to us. This amount is well below the threshold for director independence under the NASDAQ listing requirements. There being no other factors suggesting that this relationship might impair Mr. Lacerte's independence, the disinterested members of our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and the Board of Directors concluded that Mr. Lacerte should be treated as an independent director.

#### Board and Committee Meetings; Annual Meeting Attendance

In 2018, our Board of Directors held nine meetings, our Audit Committee held six meetings, our Compensation Committee held eight meetings and our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee held four meetings. Our Environmental & Social Responsibility Committee and Investment Committee were each formed at the December 2018 meeting of the Board, so their first meetings were not held until 2019. All members of the Board (or of the applicable committee of the Board) attended at least 75% of these meetings in the aggregate.

All incumbent directors and nominees for election as director are encouraged, but not required, to attend our annual meetings of shareholders. All of the current members of our Board of Directors attended our Annual Meeting of Shareholders in 2018.

### **Director Nominations**

The duties of our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee include, among others, recommending to the full Board of Directors candidates for election and re-election as directors. The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee recommends candidates for election as directors, and the Board of Directors then approves the candidates who will be nominated to stand for election. In nominating candidates for election as directors, both our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and our full Board of Directors consider the skills, experience, character, commitment and diversity of background of each potential nominee, all in the context of the requirements of our Board of Directors at that point in time. With respect to their consideration of diversity of background, neither our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee nor our full Board of Directors has a formal policy of assessing diversity with respect to any particular qualities or attributes. Each candidate should be an individual who has demonstrated integrity and ethics, has an understanding of the elements relevant to the success of a publicly-traded company, and has established a record of professional accomplishment in such candidate's chosen field. Each candidate also should be prepared to participate in all Board and committee meetings that he or she attends, and should not have other personal or professional commitments that might reasonably be expected to interfere with or limit such candidate's ability to do so. Additionally, in determining whether to recommend a director for re-election, the director's past attendance at Board and committee meetings is considered.

Our Board of Directors has no stated specific, minimum qualifications that must be met by candidates for election as directors. However, in accordance with SEC rules and applicable NASDAQ listing requirements, at least one member of our Board of Directors is expected to meet the criteria for an "audit committee financial expert" as defined by SEC rules, and a majority of the members of the Board are expected to meet the definition of "independent director" within

the meaning of SEC rules and applicable NASDAQ listing requirements.

Any shareholder of record entitled to vote in the election of directors at an annual or special meeting of our shareholders may nominate one or more persons to stand for election to the Board at such meeting in accordance with the requirements of our Amended and Restated Bylaws. In order to be considered by our Board of Directors in connection with the nominations process for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, all such director nominations must be received by our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices by February 21, 2020. Each such submission must be in writing and must comply with the notice, information and consent provisions contained in our Amended and Restated Bylaws. In addition, each such submission must include any other information required by Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Submissions should be addressed to our Corporate Secretary at the following address: Universal Display Corporation, 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618.

Our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee will consider all candidates identified by shareholders through the processes described above, and will evaluate each of them, including incumbent directors, based on the same criteria and make a recommendation to the full Board of Directors relating to all candidates for director. Although we have no formal policy regarding shareholder nominees, our Board of Directors believes that shareholder nominees should be viewed in substantially the same manner

as other nominees. The consideration of any candidate for director will be based on an assessment of the individual's background, skills and abilities, together with an assessment of whether such characteristics qualify the individual to fulfill the needs of our Board of Directors at that time.

## **Board Leadership Structure**

Our Board is currently composed of eight directors – five independent directors and three directors who are executive officers of the Company. Since December 2007, when Mr. Abramson became our Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Seligsohn took the title Founder and Chairman of the Board, our Board of Directors has had a leadership structure in which the Board's chair and our Chief Executive Officer are different persons. Prior to that time, Mr. Seligsohn served both as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board.

We believe that the overlap between our Board of Directors and executive management has been advantageous to us, as we have benefited from strong, clear, consistent and cohesive leadership, with a senior executive setting the tone and having ultimate responsibility for all of our operating and strategic functions, thus providing unified leadership and direction for our Board of Directors and our operational functions. While our Board of Directors has never concluded that the role of Chairman must always be held by a senior executive, and reserves the right to reconsider this matter, it intends to continue the current arrangement for the foreseeable future.

In February 2018, our Board of Directors created a lead independent director role, to further promote strong, independent oversight of the Company's management and affairs. On February 20, 2018, the independent directors of the Board designated Ms. Gemmill to serve as our lead independent director. Ms. Gemmill had previously performed the functions of a lead independent director including developing agendas for and chairing executive sessions of the Board, acting as a liaison between the independent directors and the Chairman of the Board, and participating on numerous calls with shareholders as part of the Company's shareholder outreach efforts.

Our independent directors meet in executive session on a periodic basis in connection with regularly-scheduled meetings of the full Board of Directors, as well as in their capacity as members of our Audit, Compensation, Environmental & Social Responsibility, Investment, and Nominating & Corporate Governance Committees. All of our directors take active roles in the activities of our Board of Directors and at meetings of the full Board. All members of our Board of Directors are able to propose items for inclusion on Board meeting agendas, and our Board meetings include time for discussion of items not on the formal agenda.

Each of our directors is a sophisticated and seasoned business person, experienced in board processes and knowledgeable regarding matters of corporate governance, and has substantial leadership experience in his or her field. For additional information about the backgrounds and qualifications of our directors, see above under the heading "Nominees For Election as Directors."

#### **Audit Committee**

Our Board of Directors has established a standing Audit Committee. In 2018, the members of our Audit Committee were Mr. Elias, Ms. Gemmill (Chair), Ms. Greco, Mr. Hartley, and Mr. Lacerte. The current members of our Audit Committee are Ms. Gemmill, Ms. Greco, and Mr. Hartley (Chair).

Our Audit Committee operates pursuant to a written charter that complies with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and NASDAQ listing standards. The Audit Committee Charter was last reviewed by our Audit Committee and approved by our Board of Directors on April 12, 2019, and a copy of the charter is publicly available through the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com.

According to its charter, our Audit Committee is responsible for, among other things:

- reviewing our financial statements and discussing these statements and other relevant financial matters with management and our independent registered public accounting firm;
- selecting and evaluating our independent registered public accounting firm and approving all audit engagement fees and terms;
- pre-approving all audit and non-audit services provided to us, including the scope of such services, the procedures to be utilized and the compensation to be paid;
- assessing the effectiveness of our internal control system and discussing this assessment with management and our independent registered public accounting firm;
- reviewing our financial reporting and accounting standards and principles, significant changes in these standards and principles, or in their application, and key accounting decisions affecting our financial statements, including alternatives to, and the rationale for, these decisions;
- discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm, as appropriate, our risk assessment and risk management policies, including our major exposures to financial risk and the steps taken by management to monitor and mitigate these exposures; and
- reviewing and investigating any matters pertaining to the integrity of management, including any actual or potential conflicts of interest or allegations of fraud, and the adherence of management to the standards of business conduct required by our code of ethics.

Each member of our Audit Committee meets the financial knowledge and independence criteria of the NASDAQ listing requirements. In April 2019, our Board of Directors determined that Mr. Hartley, Chair of the Audit Committee, is an "audit committee financial expert" as such term is defined under SEC regulations and that Mr. Hartley meets the financial sophistication and independence standards mandated by the NASDAO listing requirements.

#### REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with Company management the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018, as well as management's assessment of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, the matters required to be discussed by Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the "PCAOB") Auditing Standard No. 16. The Audit Committee also has received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG LLP required by the PCAOB regarding KPMG LLP's communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed the independence of KPMG LLP with that firm. Based on the Audit Committee's review of the matters noted above and its discussions with management and the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, the Audit Committee recommended to the Company's Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Respectfully submitted by the Audit Committee

C. Keith Hartley (Chair)

Elizabeth H. Gemmill Rosemarie B. Greco

#### **Compensation Committee**

Our Board of Directors has established a standing Compensation Committee. In 2018, the members of our Compensation Committee were Ms. Gemmill (Chair), Ms. Greco, Mr. Hartley and Mr. Lacerte. The current members of our Compensation Committee are Ms. Gemmill (Chair), Ms. Greco, and Mr. Lacerte.

Our Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a written charter that was last reviewed by our Compensation Committee and approved by our Board of Directors on April 12, 2019. A copy of the charter is publicly available through the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com.

According to its charter, our Compensation Committee is responsible for, among other things:

- reviewing and approving the base salary, incentive compensation and any other compensation for the Company's Chief Executive Officer and other senior executive officers;
- recommending to the full Board of Directors the compensation for service as a member of the Board of Directors; overseeing the development of an internally consistent and externally competitive executive compensation program to attract and retain qualified executives and to provide incentives for the attainment of the Company's strategic goals; reviewing and approving management's recommendations for equity compensation awards under the Company's equity-based compensation plans;
- administering and discharging the duties imposed on the Compensation Committee under the terms of the charter, the Company's Equity Compensation Plan, Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan; and
- making recommendations to the full Board of Directors with respect to long-term incentive compensation plans and equity based compensation plan, and any changes to such plans.

Our Compensation Committee has historically determined the compensation for the Company's executive officers in two stages. Base salary adjustments and perquisites and other benefits (life insurance coverage, automobile allowance, etc.) traditionally have been approved to coincide with the annual employment anniversaries of these individuals with the Company. Awards under our Annual Incentive Plan (which we sometimes refer to as bonuses), long-term incentive equity compensation awards, and any special cash or non-cash awards typically have been granted shortly after year-end. This enables the Compensation Committee to review and consider the Company's fiscal performance for the year in determining these awards.

Compensation for non-employee members of our Board of Directors for 2018 was recommended by our Compensation Committee and approved by the Board of Directors in December 2017, in an amount consistent with the types and equal in amount to 2017 compensation. For 2019, our Compensation Committee recommended, and our Board of Directors approved, a revised compensation program for non-employee members of our Board of Directors, as described below under "Compensation of Directors."

2018 board compensation was paid in quarterly installments shortly following the end of each quarter during the year. The three directors who also serve as employees or officers of the Company did not receive compensation for their service on the Board.

In order to facilitate the Compensation Committee's activities, Company management recommends to the Committee proposed compensation for the Company's executive officers and directors. However, the Compensation Committee exercises independent judgment in determining compensation for the Company's executive officers and directors, and in recommending this compensation to the full Board of Directors for approval. As part of this process, the Compensation Committee meets in executive session to review and ultimately finalize its recommendations.

Since 2009, the Compensation Committee has consulted from time to time as to compensation matters with Korn Ferry (formerly Korn Ferry Hay Group), a global management consulting firm ("Korn Ferry"). As discussed in "Executive Compensation – Compensation Discussion and Analysis," the Compensation Committee consulted with Korn Ferry in establishing the executive compensation program for 2018.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Each member of our Compensation Committee is an independent director under the NASDAQ listing requirements. None of the members of our Compensation Committee were officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 2018, were formerly officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or had any relationship with the Company since the beginning of 2018 that

requires disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K, nor have there been since the beginning of 2018 any compensation committee interlocks involving our directors and executive officers that require disclosure under Item 407 of Regulation S-K.

## REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Compensation Committee of the Company has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with Company management and, based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement.

Respectfully submitted by the Compensation Committee

Elizabeth H. Gemmill (Chair) Rosemarie B. Greco C. Keith Hartley (former member)

Lawrence Lacerte

#### **Shareholder Communications**

Shareholders may send communications to our Board of Directors, or to individual members of our Board of Directors, care of our Corporate Secretary at the following address: Universal Display Corporation, 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618. In general, all shareholder communications sent to our Corporate Secretary for forwarding to our Board of Directors, or to specified Board members, will be forwarded in accordance with the sender's instructions. However, our Corporate Secretary reserves the right to not forward to members of our Board of Directors any abusive, threatening or otherwise inappropriate materials. Information on how to submit complaints to our Audit Committee regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters can be found on the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com. The information on our website referenced in this proxy statement is not and should not be considered a part of this proxy statement.

## **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Philosophy and Objectives

Compensation and benefits programs are an important part of the relationship between our Company and its executive officers. Compensation for our executive officers is intended to be competitive, thereby allowing us to attract, motivate and retain talented personnel. We also seek to reward our executive officers for accomplishments and contributions to the Company's long-term strategic and short-term business goals.

What We Do vs. What We Do Not Do

Below is a summary of executive compensation policies and practices we have chosen to implement to support our executive compensation philosophy and objectives, and practices we have chosen not to implement:

What We Do:

Pay for Performance under Our Annual Incentive Plan: We link pay to performance and shareholder interests by establishing our Annual Incentive Plan based on financial metrics and strategic performance goals established in advance by our Compensation Committee.

Enhanced Emphasis of Company Goals and Relative Growth Targets Under our Annual Incentive Plan: In 2018, the Company financial performance factors under our Annual Incentive Plan were 80% and the team/individual performance factor was 20%. The financial performance factors provide that the revenue and EBITDA our executive officers. components are based on percentage growth over the prior year.

Universal Display Corporation • 2019 Proxy Statement • 10

What We Do Not Do:

No Guaranteed Bonuses: We do not provide guaranteed minimum bonuses or uncapped incentives under our Annual Incentive Plan. No Employment Contracts: We do not have any individual employment contracts with any of

What We Do:

Clawback Policy: In 2017, our Compensation Committee adopted a new policy, applicable to performance compensation such as the bonuses under our Annual Incentive Transactions: All employees Plan and the performance share unit awards under our long term incentive program, which requires that our Board of Directors review the performance compensation paid or from trading in options, awarded to our executive officers during any period in which an executive officer's fraud, intentional or willful misconduct, or gross negligence results in a material restatement of any financial statements. If the Board of Directors determines that the amount of performance compensation paid or awarded during the affected period exceeds what would have been paid or awarded in accordance with the restatement, then securities "short." the Board of Directors in its sole discretion may cause such executive to forfeit unvested or unpaid performance compensation, and recover from the executive the performance compensation that was already paid or awarded during such period.

No Short Selling or Similar and directors are prohibited warrants, puts and calls or similar instruments on any Company securities, or selling any Company

What We Do Not Do:

Existing Clawback Provisions in Executive Retention Agreements Continue to Apply. Certain of our executive officers are subject to Equity Retention Agreements which include clawback provisions. The clawback policy we adopted in 2017 is supplemental to the retention agreement provisions.

Compensation Committee Independence and Experience: Our Compensation Committee No Re-Pricing of Equity is composed solely of independent directors who have extensive experience. Awards: Our Equity

Incentive Plan prohibits repricing of equity awards without shareholder approval.

Independent Compensation Advisor: Our Compensation Committee engages its own independent advisor.

Limited Perquisites: Most of the perquisites provided to our Named Executive Officers are the same as those provided to all of our employees.

Stock Ownership Guidelines: Our Board of Directors adopted stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers in 2017. Under the guidelines, each executive officer of the Company is expected to own a number of shares of the Company's common stock with a market value equal to the amount applicable to their position for asstock options are granted long as he or she remains an executive. Applicable amounts are 6x base salary for our CEO or President, 4x base salary for our CFO and Executive Vice Presidents, 3x base salary for our Senior Vice Presidents and 2x base salary for our other executives. There the grant. is also a stock retention requirement applicable to certain awards. All of our Named Executive Officers are in compliance with the stock ownership guidelines.

No Stock Options Granted with an Exercise Price Less than Fair Market Value, All with an exercise price at the closing price on the date of

Guidelines for our directors have been in place since 2011, requiring directors to own shares of our common stock equal in value to 10x their annual cash compensation for Board service, excluding additional compensation for committee service. All of our directors are in compliance with the stock ownership guidelines.

Require Double-Trigger for Change in Control Agreements: Our change in control agreements contain a "double trigger" requirement, so that benefits are paid following a change in control only if the employee also experiences a qualifying termination of employment.

Shareholder Outreach and Say on Pay: In early 2019, for the third year in a row, we conducted an outreach program in which we contacted shareholders representing a majority of our outstanding shares to invite them to meetings focused on our executive compensation program. The Chair of our Compensation Committee and our CFO attended meetings with these shareholders and our Compensation Committee took views expressed at these meetings into consideration as it formulated changes in our compensation structure for 2019.

We hold our "say on pay" vote annually.
Universal Display Corporation • 2019 Proxy Statement • 11

#### How We Determine Executive Compensation

The process of establishing compensation for our Named Executive Officers (as defined below) for 2018 began with a review of the compensation paid to our executive officers in recent years. We have historically used prior compensation as a starting point because we believe, as a general matter, that executive compensation should remain relatively consistent from year-to-year while providing appropriate incentives for achieving desired results.

Beginning in 2013, with the assistance of Korn Ferry, the Compensation Committee implemented performance based short-term and long-term incentive programs, which formed the structural basis for our executive officers' 2018 compensation. In setting 2018 performance target goals, the Compensation Committee used prior compensation as a baseline and considered the extent to which we achieved our business goals for 2017 as well as the projected 2018 needs and opportunities of the Company. As discussed below under "Short-term Incentive Compensation," on March 6, 2018, the Compensation Committee (with the assistance of Korn Ferry) established individual targets for 2018 relating to the short-term incentive program, in accordance with the Universal Display Corporation Annual Incentive Plan approved by shareholders in June 2013 ("Annual Incentive Plan"). Under the approved program, each of our Named Executive Officers was eligible to receive cash incentive payments (which we sometimes refer to as bonuses), whereby targets were set as an individually defined percentage of their base salary with actual target payouts further modified, based on the achievement of pre-established performance goals at threshold, target and maximum levels.

With respect to long-term incentive compensation for 2018, as explained in more detail below, each of our Named Executive Officers received a target long-term incentive award in an amount ranging from 80% to 100% of their base salaries. One-half of each award granted in 2018 was in the form of time-vesting restricted stock units ("RSUs") that vest over three years from the date of grant on a pro-rata basis with one-third vesting in each of 2019, 2020 and 2021. The remaining half of each long-term incentive award for 2018 was in the form of performance share units ("PSUs") that will vest in 2021 based on the achievement of pre-established relative performance goals over a three-year performance period from January 2018 through December 2020.

Finally, the Compensation Committee considered other factors that may be relevant to compensation decisions with respect to our executive officers, including the state of the general economy.

Executive management makes recommendations to our Compensation Committee regarding all aspects of compensation for our Named Executive Officers. However, final decisions on any major element of compensation, as well as total compensation for our Named Executive Officers, are made by our Compensation Committee. Our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Founder do not participate in Compensation Committee or Board deliberations regarding their respective compensation.

In making compensation decisions, the Compensation Committee considered whether the proposed compensation to our Named Executive Officers is within the range of compensation generally known to be paid to executives at other companies. Other than in any data provided by Korn Ferry, information on the compensation paid to executives at other companies is not tabulated or summarized, and the Compensation Committee did not engage in any formal form of compensation benchmarking.

In determining executive compensation, the Compensation Committee considered the current value to our executive officers of compensation paid or issued to them for prior years. However, the Compensation Committee has not focused on gains or losses from prior option grants or other awards because it believes that those gains or losses are not particularly significant in relation to overall compensation, and that gains or losses from prior awards do not have a substantial effect on the future performance of our executive officers.

From time to time, we utilize external consultants to assist in determining executive compensation, as we did in 2018 when Korn Ferry assisted the Compensation Committee in establishing individual targets for 2018 relating to the short-term incentive program. Since 2009, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors has engaged Korn Ferry as consultants to review compensation for the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and to estimate the financial impact of the supplemental retirement plan for certain of the Company's executive officers.

#### Shareholder Outreach

Since 2017, we have conducted an annual shareholder outreach program to provide an opportunity for shareholders to have direct discussions with the Company regarding executive compensation. Each year beginning with 2017, we have invited shareholders holding at least a majority of the outstanding shares to participate in meetings regarding compensation. We have received valuable feedback in those direct shareholder conversations and have taken views expressed by these shareholders into consideration in devising our executive compensation programs and Company policies.

For the 2019 annual shareholder outreach we:

Contacted shareholders representing approximately 60% of the total outstanding shares of record as of December 31, 2018 and invited them to meetings focused on our executive compensation program; and

Held ten individual shareholder meetings representing approximately 37% of the total outstanding shares of record as of December 31, 2018. The remaining shareholders that we contacted either declined to meet or did not respond to our inquiries.

Ms. Gemmill, the Chair of the Compensation Committee and Lead Independent Director, and our Chief Financial Officer attended each of the individual shareholder meetings. At the meetings, we discussed the various components of our Named Executive Officer compensation and independent director compensation, and gave the shareholders the opportunity to discuss any specific concerns they may have regarding our executive compensation programs.

Many shareholders were interested in increasing our disclosure of the performance targets in both our short term and long term incentive programs. Shareholders also discussed their views regarding Board composition and compensation. In addition, shareholders expressed interest in greater disclosure with respect to the Company's policies and programs relating to environmental matters and social issues. Our Board and management continue to consider shareholders' views from these meetings in our compensation and governance practice. For example, to address increased shareholder interest in environmental and social matters, our Board recently created an Environmental & Social Responsibility Committee of the Board, and we have recently made public certain Company policies with respect to these areas, as further described under "Corporate Responsibility."

The above shareholder outreach focused on compensation and governance issues and was in addition to other shareholder outreach efforts that took place during the year such as regular quarterly calls with our top active (i.e., not index funds) institutional shareholders and investor meetings for analysts and interested investors throughout the year. Matters discussed during these outreach efforts included reviews of the Company's operations and results to date, and discussions of the Company's market positioning and opportunities, the OLED ecosystem, and the customer landscape.

#### Elements of Compensation

For 2018, total compensation awarded to our Named Executive Officers consisted of the following elements:

#### Base salaries:

Short-term incentive compensation in the form of bonus awards under the Annual Incentive Plan;

- Long-term incentive equity compensation awards;
- Special event awards;
- Supplemental retirement benefits; and
- Perquisites and other benefits.

The above elements, which are more particularly set forth below, provide our Named Executive Officers both cash and non-cash, or equity, compensation. We believe that each of these elements is an important and necessary component of executive compensation.

### Base salaries

We believe that there is a general expectation by our executive officers that their base salaries will remain relatively consistent year-to-year, subject to limited merit-based adjustments. In addition, as we and our industry continue to grow, we believe that there is an expectation among our executive officers that we provide competitive base salaries relative to our industry and geographic scope.

In 2018, the base salaries of our Named Executive Officers were increased by 7% over the prior year. This percentage increase represents an increase over prior years' base salary increases for these executive officers, in recognition of their efforts and to reward their performances in achieving the Company's 2017 results, which were our best on record. The increases were also intended to offset increases in the cost of living, although no actual survey of cost of living indices was conducted. As in prior years, salaries were increased on the annual employment anniversary dates or traditional salary adjustment date for these individuals.

Consistent with previous years, all adjustments to the salaries of our executive officers for 2018 were recommended by executive management and approved by our Compensation Committee at a meeting held on December 14, 2017.

As in the past, Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt each received the same base salary in 2018. This reflects our historic practice of treating these two individuals equally based on their longstanding dedication and commitment to the Company, their shared responsibility for overall management of the Company, and the comparable value that each of them has provided and continues to provide to our business success.

**Short-term Incentive Compensation** 

#### Annual Incentive Plan

The Company's short-term incentive program for Named Executive Officers consists of the Annual Incentive Plan which was adopted by the Board in March 2013 and approved by the shareholders in June 2013. All senior executives of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to participate in the Annual Incentive Plan to earn a bonus based on the achievement of pre-established performance objectives. The Compensation Committee designates which senior executives will participate in the Annual Incentive Plan for each fiscal year. To be eligible to receive a bonus payment under the Annual Incentive Plan, the participant must be actively employed by the Company or a subsidiary on the date on which the bonus is paid, except in the event of death, disability, or a leave of absence.

Bonus awards under the Annual Incentive Plan are awarded to eligible participants on an annual basis if the performance goals established by the Compensation Committee are met. At the beginning of each fiscal year, the Compensation Committee establishes each participant's target and maximum bonus award, the performance goals applicable to the bonus award, and such other conditions as the Compensation Committee deems appropriate. In 2018, the performance goals provided for differing amounts to be paid (e.g., threshold, target, and maximum amounts) based on differing levels of performance for each performance goal. The performance goals may relate to the financial performance of the Company and its subsidiaries or one or more business units, and, where appropriate, they may relate to a participant's individual performance.

At the end of the fiscal year, the Compensation Committee, with the assistance of Korn Ferry, determines the extent to which the performance goals and other conditions of the bonus awards have been met, and the amount, if any, to be paid to each participant. A participant will not earn a bonus for any portion of the performance goals for a fiscal year under the Annual Incentive Plan if the level of achievement of the performance goals is below the threshold requirement to earn an award, as established by the Compensation Committee.

Any bonus awards that are earned for a fiscal year are paid shortly after the end of the fiscal year, after the Compensation Committee certifies attainment of the performance goals, provided the participant is actively employed by the Company on the payment date. Bonus awards under the Annual Incentive Plan are payable in cash, shares of our common stock or stock units under the Universal Display Corporation Equity Compensation Plan, or such other form as the Compensation Committee determines in its discretion.

The Annual Incentive Plan utilizes performance goals based on one or more of the following criteria, either in absolute terms or in comparison to publicly available industry standards or indices: stock price, return on equity, assets under management, EBITDA, earnings per share, price-earnings multiples, net income, operating income, revenues, working capital, accounts receivable, productivity, margin, net capital employed, return on assets, shareholder return, return on capital employed, increase in assets, operating expense, unit volume, sales, internal sales growth, cash flow, market share, relative performance to a comparison group designated by the Compensation Committee, or strategic business criteria consisting of one or more objectives based on meeting specified revenue goals, market penetration goals, customer growth, geographic business expansion goals, cost targets or goals relating to acquisitions or divestitures. The Compensation Committee may reduce or increase a bonus award for any fiscal year based on its assessment of personal performance or other factors. Any reduction of a participant's bonus cannot result in an increase in any other participant's bonus.

Bonus Awards under the Annual Incentive Plan Paid for 2018 Performance

As a result of the shareholder outreach we performed in early 2017 with respect to executive compensation, we asked Korn Ferry to assist us in redesigning the performance goals relating to executive compensation, to better align bonuses paid under the Annual Incentive Plan with the Company's financial performance. Using the input we received from Korn Ferry in March 2017, the Compensation Committee revised each participant's target and maximum bonus award and the performance goals applicable to the bonus award, increasing the Company financial performance factors from 60% to 80%. The financial performance factors (40% based upon revenue growth year over year; 40% based upon year-over-year growth in adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA")) were also revised so that the revenue and EBITDA components were based on percentage growth over the prior year rather than based on the achievement of specified targets. These revised performance goals were first used for 2017 executive compensation and were used again in 2018.

Also for 2018, the team/individual performance factor (based upon team and individual key performance indicators using a scorecard) was decreased from 40% to 20%. In addition, the overall bonus amount to be paid, after using the above pre-established weighted

performance goals, were permitted to be modified up or down by an additional 25% (decreased from 50%) based on the individual's specific performance calculated under the scorecard. The Named Executive Officers' 2018 targets under the Annual Incentive Plan are set forth below:

		Annual Incentive	Annual Incentive
Name Steven V. Abramson	Base Salary (\$)	Target (% of Base)	Target (\$)
President and Chief Executive Officer Sidney D. Rosenblatt	726,672	100	726,672
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Sherwin I. Seligsohn	726,672	100	726,672
Chairman of the Board Julia J. Brown, Ph.D.	439,637	80	351,710
Senior Vice President and Chief Technical Officer Mauro Premutico	510,405	100	510,405
Vice President Legal and General Manager,			
Patents and Licensing	432,081	80	345,665

The maximum bonus award that may be achieved under the non-individual performance criteria of the Annual Incentive Plan is 175% of the annual incentive target award, which amount may be modified by an additional plus or minus 25% based on the individual's performance criteria. Therefore, each Named Executive Officer was eligible to earn an amount ranging from 0% to 218.75% of his or her annual incentive target. The awards paid to the Named Executive Officers in March 2019 for 2018 year-end performance under the Annual Incentive Plan were: Mr. Abramson – \$317,919 (constituting 44% of annual incentive target); Mr. Rosenblatt – \$317,919 (constituting 44% of annual incentive target); Dr. Brown – \$223,302 (constituting 44% of annual incentive target); and Mr. Premutico – \$151,228 (constituting 44% of annual incentive target).

These awards to our Named Executive Officers for 2018 year-end performance were approved by our Compensation Committee at a meeting held on March 5, 2019 and paid out in March 2019. The cash payments were then subject to customary tax withholding consistent with applicable requirements. For the reasons indicated earlier, Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt again received the same bonus awards for 2018 year-end performance.

#### Targets for 2019 under the Annual Incentive Plan

We asked Korn Ferry to assist us in setting the performance goals relating to 2019 executive compensation, in a manner consistent with the short term compensation plan that was redesigned in March 2017 as a result of the

shareholder outreach we performed in early 2017 with respect to executive compensation. Using the input we received from Korn Ferry, in March 2019, the Compensation Committee established each participant's target and maximum bonus award and the performance goals applicable to the bonus award for 2019. For 2019, the Company financial performance factors (revenue and EBITDA components) are still 80% and are based on percentage growth over 2018. The team/individual performance factor is still 20%. As in 2018 and 2017, the overall bonus amount to be paid, after using the above pre-established weighted performance goals, may be modified up or down by an additional 25% based on the individual's specific performance calculated under the scorecard.

As a result, the 2019 bonuses under the Annual Incentive Plan (payable in 2020) will continue to be formula-based and weighted towards the Company's financial growth, limiting the discretion of the Compensation Committee and closely aligning the achievement of bonuses with the Company's performance.

Long-term incentive equity compensation awards

We use long-term incentive equity compensation awards to link the compensation paid to our executive officers with our future performance and the future performance of our common stock. We believe that this helps align the interests of our executive officers with those of our shareholders. We also use these awards to encourage our executive officers to remain with the Company through the applicable vesting period.

In 2018, as in prior years, the Company utilized a long-term incentive compensation equity compensation approach in which equity grants are made annually consisting of restricted stock units (RSUs) that vest ratably over a three-year period along with performance share units (PSUs) that vest at the end of a three-year performance period based upon specific performance criteria. Korn Ferry assisted the Compensation Committee in developing this long-term executive incentive compensation structure in 2013 and each year,

the Compensation Committee, with the assistance of Korn Ferry, determines eligibility, target award levels, and performance measures.

With respect to long-term incentive awards granted in 2018, on March 6, 2018 our Compensation Committee and full Board of Directors approved target long-term incentive awards for our Named Executive Officers in an amount ranging from 80% to 100% of their base salaries, with one half of the total value of each award in the form of time-vesting RSUs and the other half in the form of PSUs vesting upon the achievement of certain performance criteria over a performance period. All such equity awards were issued under the Universal Display Corporation Equity Compensation Plan and are subject to the provisions of such plan as well as to the terms of the applicable RSU and PSU grant letter agreements.

The RSU portion of the award granted on March 6, 2018 to the Named Executive Officers was in the following amounts: Mr. Abramson – 2,975; Mr. Rosenblatt – 2,975; Mr. Seligsohn – 1,440; Dr. Brown – 2,090; and Mr. Premutico – 1,415. As with other compensation, Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt received the same long-term incentive equity compensation awards. Each of the foregoing awards will vest one-third each year on March 6, 2019, 2020 and 2021, subject to the continued employment of each Named Executive Officer on the applicable vesting date.

The PSU portion of the award granted on March 6, 2018 to the Named Executive Officers was in identical amounts, as follows: Mr. Abramson – 2,975; Mr. Rosenblatt – 2,975; Mr. Seligsohn – 1,440; Dr. Brown – 2,090; and Mr. Premutico – 1,415. These PSU awards will vest based on the achievement of pre-established relative performance goals over a three-year performance period from January 2018 through December 2020. Half of the PSUs awarded in March 2018 will vest based on the achievement of cumulative revenue growth (as a percentage) over the performance period relative to cumulative revenue growth of the companies in the NASDAQ Electronics Components Index. The other half vest of the PSUs will vest based on the achievement of total shareholder return relative to total shareholder return of the companies in the NASDAQ Electronics Components Index. The PSU target awards are subject to a sliding scale multiplier ranging from 0x to 2x based upon the percentile achievement with respect to each relative target. In addition, the PSUs are subject to the continued employment of each Named Executive Officer on the applicable vesting date.

# Special long-term equity retention awards

In the past, the Company has determined that it was in the best interests of our shareholders to grant special multi-year equity retention awards to induce certain of our Named Executive Officers to continue to remain in the service of the Company and to promote the development of the Company, ensuring that the Company continues to benefit from their valuable leadership and vision. These awards are generally awarded once every four or five years, and vest on a pro-rata basis over a four or five year time period. No such awards were granted in 2018.

### Supplemental retirement benefits

In 2010, our Compensation Committee and our Board of Directors approved and adopted the Universal Display Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, which was amended in 2015 (as amended, the "SERP"). The SERP is a nonqualified deferred compensation plan under the Internal Revenue Code (the "IRC") and is unfunded. Participants include management or highly compensated employees of the Company who are selected by the Compensation Committee to receive benefits under the SERP. The Compensation Committee retained Korn Ferry to assist it in structuring the SERP in 2010 and amending the SERP in 2015.

The SERP was adopted to provide key employees with supplemental retirement benefits and to encourage their continued employment with the Company. Under the SERP, if an executive officer participant resigns or is terminated without cause at or after age 65 and with at least 20 years of continuous service with the Company, for the life of such

participant, he or she will be eligible to receive a SERP benefit based on a percentage of the participant's combined annual base salary and average annual bonus for the most recent three fiscal years ending prior to the participant's date of termination of employment. The percentage is 50%, 25% or 15%, depending on the participant's benefit class. Each of Mr. Abramson, Mr. Rosenblatt, Dr. Brown, and Mr. Premutico has been designated as participants in the SERP in the 50% benefit class.

If a participant resigns after age 65 and with at least 15 years of service, he or she will be eligible to receive a prorated SERP benefit. If a participant is terminated without cause or on account of a disability after at least 15 years of service, he or she will be eligible to receive a prorated SERP benefit regardless of age. The prorated benefit in either case will be based on the participant's number of years of service (up to 20), divided by 20. In the event a participant is terminated for cause, his or her SERP benefit and any future benefit payments are subject to immediate forfeiture. The ages of the Named Executive Officers designated as participants in the SERP are as follows: Mr. Abramson – 67, Mr. Rosenblatt – 71, Dr. Brown – 58, and Mr. Premutico – 53.

In the event of a change in control of the Company, each participant in the SERP will become immediately vested in his or her benefit under the SERP. Unless the participant's benefit has already fully vested, if the participant has less than 20 years of service at the time

of the change in control, he or she will receive a prorated benefit based on his or her number of years of service (up to 20), divided by 20. If the change in control qualifies as a "change in control event" for purposes of Section 409A of the IRC, then each participant (including former employees who are entitled to SERP benefits) will receive a lump sum cash payment equal to the present value of the benefit immediately upon the change in control.

As individuals with special expertise and institutional knowledge that the Company considers to be highly valuable to the Company's continued success, Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt are designated as special participants under the SERP. Now that each of them has reached the age of 65 and has 20 years of continuous service, if either of them resigns or is terminated without cause or on account of a disability, he will be eligible to receive a SERP benefit.

The SERP benefit for each of Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt is based on 50% of his annual base salary and 50% of his average annual bonus for the most recent three fiscal years for his life and the life of his surviving spouse, if any. Payments are based on a present value calculation of the benefit amount for the actuarial remaining life expectancies of him and his surviving spouse, if any. The accumulated benefit under the SERP for either of Mr. Abramson or Mr. Rosenblatt may change subject to a change in his marital status. Except as described above, Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt are subject to the same treatment as other participants in the SERP.

### Special event awards

From time to time, we issue cash and non-cash awards to our employees, including our executive officers, relating to the occurrence of special events. For example, we have historically awarded a small amount of cash or equity compensation to our employees in connection with the filing and issuance of new patents on which they are named inventors. From time to time, we have also issued cash awards to our employees in connection with their having achieved special recognition in their field or in the industry. We believe that these awards are an important component of compensation intended to recognize our employees for special individual accomplishments that are likely to benefit us and our business.

During 2018, our Compensation Committee did not award any special non-cash awards of shares of common stock to our Named Executive Officers. However, Dr. Brown received cash bonuses during 2018 relating to various patent awards on which she was a named inventor, which totaled approximately \$8,000. These cash awards to Dr. Brown were granted consistent with our historical practice of awarding compensation based on the filing and issuance of U.S. patents on which our employees are named inventors.

In March 2019, the Compensation Committee asked Korn Ferry to advise it with respect to a special bonus payout for the Company's senior executive team for the Company's 2018 performance to supplement the payout earned under the Annual Incentive Plan. In its analysis, Korn Ferry considered many factors and alternatives, including the relative performance of the Company in 2017 and 2018 in terms of the commercial adoption of the Company's OLED technology during those periods, the timing of purchases of materials by its customers and the impact of the ASC 606 accounting standard (relative to ASC 605) to the payout made under the Annual Incentive Plan for the 2018 performance.

After review of Korn Ferry's analysis, the Compensation Committee and Board of Directors elected to pay one-time special annual incentive cash bonus awards ("Special Bonus Awards") to the Company's senior executive team, which together with the amount earned under the Annual Incentive Plan for 2018 resulted in a payout of approximately 150% (1.5x) of the target amounts under the formulation set forth in the Annual Incentive Plan. The Compensation Committee and Board of Directors also determined that the unique circumstances in 2018 did not require any changes to the structure of the long-term or short-term incentive plans for 2019. The Special Bonus Awards paid to the Named Executive Officers in March 2019 for 2018 performance were: Mr. Abramson –\$772,089; Mr. Rosenblatt – \$772,089; Mr. Seligsohn – \$373,691; Dr. Brown – \$542,305; and Mr. Premutico – \$367,269.

Other than as described above, we did not issue any other special event awards, cash or non-cash, to our Named Executive Officers for 2018 performance.

### Perquisites and other benefits

We provide benefits to all of our employees, including our Named Executive Officers. These include paid time off, paid sick time, Company-sponsored life, short-term and long-term disability insurance, individual and family medical and dental insurance, 401(k) plan contributions, and other similar benefits. We believe that these benefits are an important factor in helping us maintain good relations with our employees and in creating a positive work environment.

For some of these employee benefits, the actual amount provided depends on the employee's salary, such that our higher-salaried employees, including our executive officers, receive total benefits that are greater than those of other employees. For example, beginning on January 1, 2017, rather than matching a certain percentage of employee contributions under our 401(k) plan, we started making nonelective employer contributions of 3% of compensation for all employees (up to the permissible limit), resulting in the maximum permissible contribution of \$8,250 for all of our Named Executive Officers in 2018.

We also made life and disability insurance premium payments on behalf of our Named Executive Officers in 2018. Again, the actual amount of these payments depends in part on the employee's age and salary, such that payments made on behalf of our older or higher-salaried employees, which includes our executive officers, will be greater than those made on behalf of other employees. These life insurance premium payments were also higher for our executive officers because they are entitled to a benefit equal to two times their annual base salary, as compared to our other employees who are entitled to a benefit equal to their annual base salary. In addition, we made premium payments for supplemental disability and excess life insurance coverage for Mr. Abramson and Mr. Rosenblatt. However, the dollar value of all of these payments was relatively small compared to the total compensation paid to our executive officers for the year, and in any event we consider these type of benefits to be standard components of executive compensation at most companies.

In 2018, as in prior years, we provided an automobile allowance of \$500 per month to each of Mr. Abramson, Mr. Rosenblatt, Mr. Seligsohn, Dr. Brown and Mr. Premutico, and reimbursed each of them for reasonable expenses associated with the automobiles they used to commute to our offices in Ewing, New Jersey, such as expenses for automobile repairs and insurance. We do not consider this additional benefit to be a substantial component of executive compensation.

### Pay Ratio Disclosure

In accordance with the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and applicable SEC rules, we are providing the information below about the relationship of our Chief Executive Officer's compensation to our median employee's compensation.

The total annual compensation for 2018 was \$142,790 for our median employee and \$6,879,849 for our Chief Executive Officer. The resulting ratio of our Chief Executive Officer's pay to the pay of our median employee for 2018 is 48 to 1. We calculated the median employee's 2018 annual total compensation using the same methodology we use to determine our Named Executive Officers' total compensation for the Summary Compensation Table in this proxy statement.

In accordance with proxy rules, we identified our median employee in 2018 for the 2018 proxy statement and are using the same median employee again this year. We identified our median employee in 2018 by examining the 2017 compensation for all individuals who were employed by us on December 31, 2017, excluding our Chief Executive Officer. For the purpose of identifying the median employee, we included base pay, equity grants, bonus and other non-equity payments given in the year in our calculation of 2017 compensation. We included all world-wide employees, whether employed on a full-time, part-time or seasonal basis. We annualized the compensation for full-time employees that were not employed by us for all of 2017. All non-U.S. employees' pay was converted into US Dollars using an exchange rate based on our determination date of December 31, 2017.

**Stock Ownership Guidelines** 

**Executive Stock Ownership Guidelines** 

On April 4, 2017, the Board of Directors approved stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers, to further align the long-term interests of the Company's executive officers with the interests of the Company's shareholders. Under the guidelines, each executive officer of the Company will be expected to own a number of shares of the Company's common stock with a market value equal to at least the following amount for as long as he or she remains an executive:

Title:	Ownership	Threshold:
--------	-----------	------------

Chief Executive Officer or President

Executive Vice President or Chief Financial Officer
Senior Vice President

Other Executives

Six times (6x) base salary
Four times (4x) base salary
Three times (3x) base salary
Two times (2x) base salary

For the purpose of meeting the applicable ownership threshold, ownership includes all shares of common stock held beneficially or of record by the executive (or his or her spouse), including restricted stock and stock units (including unvested shares) and shares held by certain trusts and plans. Performance share units and unexercised options are not included. If an executive is not in compliance with the guidelines, such executive will not be permitted to sell or otherwise dispose of stock until his or her applicable threshold is met.

The holding period requirements set forth in the executive stock ownership guidelines are in addition to any applicable holding period requirement set forth in any equity award agreement to which an executive may be party. The special long term equity retention

awards the Company granted to four of our Named Executive Officers in years prior to 2018 (no such awards have been made since 2015) require the grantee to retain the awarded shares for a period of time (ranging from one to five years) following vesting.

Although there is a grace period for compliance, each of the Named Executive Officers is in compliance with the stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers.

### **Director Stock Ownership Guidelines**

On December 15, 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company approved stock ownership guidelines for members of the Board who are not officers of the Company. These guidelines require such individuals to own a number of shares of the Company's common stock equal in value to ten (10) times their annual cash compensation for Board service, excluding additional compensation for Committee service or based on Board meeting attendance. Individuals are allowed five years from the date they are first elected to the Board to comply with these guidelines, and once an individual is determined to be in compliance with these guidelines, that individual will not be considered out of compliance with these guidelines at any future time due solely to a decrease in the share price of the Company's common stock since the last compliance measurement date.

Compliance with the stock ownership guidelines for these Board members is measured as of the first business day of each calendar year using (1) the highest closing price of the Company's common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market during the immediately preceding calendar year, and (2) the annual cash compensation to the individual for Board service for the immediately preceding calendar year. The highest closing price of the Company's common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market in 2018 was \$205.60 per share. The annual cash compensation to each member of the Board who is not an officer of the Company was \$40,000 for 2018. On this basis and consistent with the above policy, on the first business day of 2019 (January 2, 2019), each member of the Board who was required to own at least 1,946 shares of the Company's common stock did in fact own such shares.

### Clawback Policy for Executive Compensation

On April 4, 2017, the Board of Directors approved an executive compensation recovery or "clawback" policy, to promote and maintain a culture of diligent and principled management of the Company and so that an executive officer should not receive an improper benefit of performance compensation. This policy requires that in the event of an executive officer's fraud, intentional or willful misconduct, or gross negligence that results in a material restatement of any financial statement during such year or any of the three prior full fiscal years, the Board of Directors shall review the performance compensation paid or awarded to the executive during such period. If the Board of Directors determines that the amount of performance compensation paid or awarded during such period exceeds what would have been paid or awarded in accordance with the restatement, then the Board of Directors in its sole discretion may cause such executive to forfeit unvested or unpaid performance compensation, and recover from the executive the performance compensation that was already paid or awarded during such period.

The compensation recovery requirements set forth in our executive compensation recovery policy are in addition to any clawback, recoupment or compensation recovery provisions that are included in any equity award agreement, employment agreement, bonus plan or similar agreement or plan. With respect to short term compensation, our Annual Incentive Plan provides that any bonuses granted under the Annual Incentive Plan are subject to any applicable clawback or recoupment policy that the Board of Directors may adopt. Likewise, the equity grant award letters evidencing the RSUs and PSUs granted to the Named Executive Officers as part of our long term incentive program state that such awards are subject to any applicable clawback or recoupment policies implemented by the Board from time to time.

The special long term equity retention awards the Company granted to four of our Named Executive Officers in years prior to 2018 (no such awards have been made since 2015) contain their own clawback provisions, which state that any shares that are subject to such awards (whether or not vested), shall be forfeited and returned to the Company upon request of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors in the event of violations of non-competition, non-solicitation or confidentiality agreements; acts of dishonesty, fraud, embezzlement or theft in connection with the executive's duties or employment; conviction of a felony; or actions that result in a material restatement of the financial statements of the Company.

In 2015, the SEC issued proposed regulations regarding clawback policies in accordance with the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act but final rules have yet to be adopted. Our new clawback policy provides that if either the SEC or NASDAQ adopts final rules or policies with respect to executive compensation recovery, the Board of Directors shall amend or restate our policy as necessary to comply with such final rules or policies.

## Change in Control Payments

In April 2003, we entered into change in control agreements with our executive officers. These agreements were amended and restated in November 2008 in order to bring them into compliance with the strict timing and documentary requirements of Section 409A of the IRC and the regulations issued thereunder. Mr. Premutico entered into a change in control agreement on April 16, 2012 to enable him

to receive change in control benefits commensurate with those offered to our other executive officers. Both the original agreements and the amended and restated agreements were approved by our Board of Directors.

The change in control agreements provide for certain cash payments and other benefits to our executive officers in the event that their employment is terminated or their responsibilities are substantially reduced, in connection with a change in control of the Company, constituting a "double trigger" mechanism whereby benefits are not paid unless both conditions are met. We believe that these agreements help to reinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication of our executive officers to the Company in the event they are asked to help facilitate a change in control.

Under the change in control agreements, our executive officers would receive benefits equal to two times their base salaries and annual bonuses, plus ancillary benefits relating to life and disability insurance, medical and dental coverage and employment outplacement services. The change in control agreements utilize the "double-trigger" mechanism because we believe that our executive officers should only receive these benefits if they suffer a reduction in employment status associated with a change in control. The agreements also include "gross-up" provisions that would compensate our executive officers for any taxes they might owe in connection with receipt of these benefits.

We believe that the terms of the change in control agreements for our executive officers are reasonable and appropriate for a company with new and exciting technologies such as ours. More detailed information about these agreements and the specific benefits and compensation payable to our executive officers in connection with a change in control are set forth elsewhere in this proxy statement.

In addition, in the event of a change in control of the Company, each SERP participant will become immediately vested in his or her SERP benefit. Unless the participant's benefit has already fully vested, if the participant has less than 20 years of service at the time of the change in control, he or she will receive a prorated benefit based on his or her number of years of service (up to 20), divided by 20. If the change in control qualifies as a "change in control event" for purposes of Section 409A of the IRC, then each participant (including former employees who are entitled to SERP benefits) will receive a lump sum cash payment equal to the present value of the benefit immediately upon the change in control.

Tax Consequences of Our Compensation Program

Internal Revenue Code §162(m)

In years past, when determining the total compensation payable to our executive officers, we considered the potential impact of Section 162(m) of the IRC. Section 162(m) disallows any publicly-held corporation from taking a tax deduction for compensation in excess of \$1 million paid to its executive officers in any taxable year, but prior to December 2017, as discussed in the following paragraph, performance-based compensation was exempt from the calculation of compensation for purposes of Section 162(m).

On December 22, 2017, Congress enacted tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Among other things, the Tax Act substantially amended Section 162(m). Prior to 2018, qualified performance-based compensation meeting the process requirements of Section 162(m) was exempt from the \$1 million cap. The Tax Act repealed the qualified performance-based compensation exception under Section 162(m) effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and expanded the group of covered employees potentially subject to the \$1 million deductibility cap. The Tax Act grandfathered arrangements entered into on or before November 2, 2017, even if paid in subsequent years.

As a result of the changes to Section 162(m) under the Tax Act, the deductibility of compensation under applicable tax laws is no longer a primary consideration in the structuring of compensation.

### Internal Revenue Code §409A

Section 409A of the IRC provides that nonqualified deferred compensation benefits are includible in an employee's income when vested, unless certain requirements are met. If these requirements are not met, employees are also subject to an additional income tax and interest. Our compensation plans and arrangements are drafted to meet any applicable requirements of Section 409A. Change in control agreements with our executive officers were amended in November 2008 to ensure compliance with these requirements. The SERP, as adopted, is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A. As a result, all of our executive officers will be taxed when any deferred compensation is actually paid to them, and we will be entitled to a tax deduction at that time.

### Internal Revenue Code §280G

Section 280G of the IRC disallows a company's tax deduction for "excess parachute payments." Additionally, Section 4999 of the IRC imposes a 20% excise tax on any person who receives excess parachute payments. Presently, all of our Named Executive Officers

are entitled to payments upon the termination of their employment in connection with a change in control of the Company, some of which may qualify as "excess parachute payments." Accordingly, our tax deduction for any such excess parachute payments would be disallowed under Section 280G of the IRC. Moreover, we are required to make additional payments to these individuals to cover any excise taxes imposed on them by reason of the payments they receive in connection with a change in control. As previously indicated, we believe that this tax "gross-up" obligation is reasonable and appropriate given our current size and status.

# **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table provides information on the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, and our other three highest-paid executive officers for services in all capacities to the Company and its subsidiaries for 2018, 2017 and 2016. This group is referred to in this proxy statement as the "Named Executive Officers."

								Change in Pension Va and Nonqualifie					Total Without Change in Pension Value and
							N F	Deferred					Nonqualifie
					Stock		Non-Equity Incentive Plan	Compensati	ion	All Othe	er		Deferred
		Salary	Bonus		Awards <sup>(1)</sup>	)	Compensati	idnarnings		Compen	satio	o <b>T</b> iotal	Compensat
Name and Principal Position	Year	(\$)	(\$)		(\$)		(\$)	(\$)		(\$)		(\$)	(\$)
Steven V. Abramson	2018	701,989	772,089	(3)	719,263	(4)	317,919	4,337,270	(5)	31,319	(6)	6,879,849	2,542,579
President and Chief Executive	2017		1,000,000	` /	770,505		1,485,603	894,298	(9)	31,191	(6)	4,848,806	3,954,508
Officer	2016	644,732	_		710,015	(10)	890,420	1,489,308	(11)	38,992	(6)	3,773,466	2,284,158
Sidney D. Rosenblatt Executive Vice	2018	701,989	772,089	(3)	719,263	(4)	317,919	3,644,741	(5)	42,249	(12)	6,198,250	2,553,509
President & Chief Financial	2017	667,209	1,000,000	(7)	770,505	(8)	1,485,603	2,767,807	(9)	40,192	(12)	6,731,315	3,963,508
Officer	2016	644,732			710,015	(10)	890,420	1,029,500	(11)	48,244	(12)	3,322,911	2,293,411
Sherwin I. Seligsohn	2018	424,703	373,691	(3)	348,149	(4)	153,873	_		16,627	(13)	1,317,042	1,317,042
Founder and Chairman of the	2017	403,661	484,004	(7)	373,080	(8)	719,031	_		10,637	(13)	1,990,413	1,990,413
Board	2016	390,062	_		343,646	(10)	430,964	_		40,221	(13)	1,204,894	1,204,894
Julia J. Brown, Ph.D. Senior	2018	501,838	550,305	(3)	505,299	(4)	223,302	1,655,633	(5)	16,120	(14)	3,452,497	1,796,864
Vice President &	2017	,	,	(7)	,	(8)	1,043,468	524,269	(9)	- ,		3,303,163	2,778,894
	2016	453,270	19,500	(15)	498,741	(10)	625,419	699,254	(11)	15,055	(14)	2,311,239	1,611,985

Chief Technical Officer

#### Mauro Premutico

Vice President							
Legal	2018 423,383	367,269 (3	342,102 (4)	151,228	553,658	(5) 13,334 (16) 1,850,974	1,297,316
& General							
Manager,	2017 399,612	356,766 (7	275,024 (8)	530,006	291,450	(9) 13,253 (16) 1,866,110	1,574,660
Patents and							
Licensing	2016 386,098	_	253,341 (10)	317,668	376,876	(11) 24,085 (16) 1,358,069	981,193

(1) For information regarding the assumptions made in the valuations of these amounts, see Footnote 14 to the Company's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year. The grant date fair value of the PSUs included in this column was calculated based on the probable achievement of the performance goals as determined at the date of grant, which was determined to be the target level of performance. The highest level of performance that may be achieved for the PSUs would result in the receipt of 2x the number of PSUs receivable at target. The PSU awards granted in 2018 will be eligible to vest after three years based on the achievement of pre-established relative performance goals over a three-year performance period from January 2018 through December 2020. Half of the PSUs awarded will vest based on the achievement of cumulative revenue growth relative to cumulative revenue growth of the companies in the NASDAQ Electronics Components Index, with the other half vesting based on the achievement of total shareholder return relative to total shareholder return of the companies in the NASDAQ Electronics Components Index. The grant date fair values shown in the table above for the PSUs granted during 2018 assume performance at the target level. Assuming performance at

the maximum level, the grant date fair value of the PSUs granted during 2018 was \$711,734 for Messrs. Abramson and Rosenblatt, \$344,506 for Mr. Seligsohn, \$500,012 for Dr. Brown and \$338,520 for Mr. Premutico.

- (2) Non-equity incentive plan compensation (bonus awards under the Annual Incentive Plan) earned for 2018, 2017 and 2016 performance was paid in March 2019, March 2018 and March 2017, respectively. A small portion of the 2017 award was paid in the form of a 401(k) plan profit sharing contribution to each executive's 401(k) plan account, with the remainder paid in cash. For greater detail see the section of this proxy statement entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" under the heading "Short-term Incentive Compensation."
- (3) Bonuses for 2018 consist of special event bonuses awarded in March 2019 for 2018 performance. In addition, Dr. Brown received a bonus of \$8,000 relating to patent awards in 2018. For greater detail see the section of this proxy statement entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" under the heading "Special event awards."
- (4) This amount is based on the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted share units and performance share units granted to the Named Executive Officer on March 6, 2018. These stock awards are discussed in greater detail in the section of this proxy statement entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" under the heading "Long-term incentive equity compensation awards" and below under the section "Grants of Plan-Based Awards."
- (5) Based on the difference between the actuarial present value of the accrued benefit under the SERP as of December 31, 2017, using a discount rate of 3.22%, and the actuarial present value of the accrued benefit under the SERP as of December 31, 2018, using a discount rate of 3.89%. The increase in value of the SERP benefit for 2018 is due to the inclusion of the larger bonus amounts paid out in March 2018 for extraordinary 2017 performance (see footnote 7 below). As described in detail in the section of this proxy statement entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" under the heading "Supplemental retirement benefits," the value of the SERP benefit includes a percentage of the average annual bonus for the most recent three fiscal years ending prior to the participant's date of termination of employment. The changes in the actuarial present values of the Named Executive Officers' SERP benefits do not constitute cash payments to the Named Executive Officers. Since none of the Named Executive Officers terminated employment in 2018, none actually received any cash payment with respect to this benefit.
- (6) Based on (a) auto expense reimbursements and allowance of \$3,359, \$4,635 and \$6,540, (b) life and disability insurance premium payments of \$19,710, \$18,456 and \$24,502; and (c) nonelective employer 401(k) plan contributions of \$8,250 and \$8,100 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$7,950, in each case for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
- (7) Bonuses for 2017 consist of special event bonuses awarded in December 2017 and paid out in March 2018. These one-time awards were in addition to the annual bonuses paid under the Annual Incentive Plan, and were provided in view of the Company's exceptional 2017 financial performance which far exceeded the targets under the Annual Incentive Plan. In addition, Dr. Brown received a bonus of \$19,500 relating to patent awards in 2017.
- (8) This amount is based on the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted share units and performance share units granted to the Named Executive Officer on March 7, 2017.
- (9) Based on the difference between the actuarial present value of the accrued benefit under the SERP as of December 31, 2016, using a discount rate of 3.57%, and the actuarial present value of the accrued benefit under the SERP as of December 31, 2017, using a discount rate of 3.22%.
- (10) This amount is based on the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted share units and performance share units granted to the Named Executive Officer on March 1, 2016.
- (11) Based on the difference between the actuarial present value of the accrued benefit under the SERP as of December 31, 2015, using a discount rate of 3.78%, and the actuarial present value of the accrued benefit under the SERP as of December 31, 2016, using a discount rate of 3.57%.
- (12) Based on (a) auto expense reimbursements and allowance of \$7,528, \$6,593 and \$8,836; (b) life and disability insurance premium payments of \$26,472, \$25,499 and \$31,458; and (c) nonelective employer 401(k) plan contributions of \$8,250 and \$8,100 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$7,950, in each case for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
- (13) Based on (a) auto expense reimbursements and allowance of \$7,237, \$1,493 and \$1,505; (b) disability insurance premium payments of \$1,140 and \$1,044, and life and disability insurance premium payments of \$30,766; and (c) nonelective employer 401(k) plan contributions of \$8,250 and \$8,100 and an employer 401(k) contribution of

- \$7,950, in each case for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
- (14) Based on (a) auto expense reimbursements and allowance of \$2,516, \$2,391 and \$2,716; (b) life and disability insurance premium payments of \$5,354, \$4,776 and \$4,389; and (c) nonelective employer 401(k) plan contributions of \$8,250 and \$8,100 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$7,950, in each case for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
- (15) Dr. Brown received this bonus relating to patent awards in 2016.
- (16) Based on (a) auto expense reimbursements and allowance of \$1,633, \$2,024, and \$13,335; (b) life and disability insurance premium payments of \$3,451, \$3,129 and \$2,800; and (c) nonelective employer 401(k) plan contributions of \$8,250 and \$8,100 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$7,950, in each case for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Compensation paid to each of the Named Executive Officers for 2018, 2017 and 2016 consisted of the following:

Short-term incentive compensation in the form of performance based year-end bonus awards for 2018 (paid in 2019), for 2017 (paid in 2018), and 2016 (paid in 2017), under the Annual Incentive Plan; Universal Display Corporation • 2019 Proxy Statement • 22

Long-term incentive equity compensation granted as equity grants of restricted share units (subject to time-vesting restrictions) and performance units (subject to vesting upon the achievement of performance goals) on each of March 6, 2018, March 7, 2017, and March 1, 2016;

Special event bonuses for 2018 and 2017 performance (paid in 2019 and 2018, respectively);

SERP benefits to Mr. Abramson, Mr. Rosenblatt, Dr. Brown and Mr. Premutico;

In the case of Dr. Brown, cash awards granted as bonuses for the filing of patent applications and the issuance of patents on which she is a named inventor, and with respect to which the Company is the assignee; and

Perquisites in the form of auto expense allowances and reimbursements, life and disability insurance premium payments, and 401(k) plan contributions.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table summarizes each grant of an award made to Named Executive Officers in 2018. These awards were made as discussed above in the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section under the headings "Short-term incentive compensation" and "Long-term incentive equity compensation awards." No stock options, SARs or other similar instruments were awarded to the Named Executive Officers during 2018.

					Estin Payo	nated Fu uts	ıture				
			l Possible	•	Unde Incer	er Equity ntive	y				
		Plan Awa		meenave	Plan	Awards	(2)	All Other Stock Awards: Number of	All Other Option Awards:	Exercise or Base	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock
	Grant	Threshold	dTarget	Maximum	Thre	s <b>Trahg</b> et	Maximu	Shares nof Stock	Number of Securities Underlying	Price of Option Awards	and Option Awards
Name Steven V. Abramson Annual	Date	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(#)	(#)	(#)	(#) <sup>(3)</sup>	Options (#)	(\$)	(\$)
Incentive Plan RSUs PSUs Sidney D. Rosenblatt Annual	3/6/2018 3/6/2018	3	726,672 — —	1,589,595 — —					  		363,396 355,867
Incentive Plan RSUs PSUs		3	726,672 — —	1,589,595 — —			 				363,396 355,867

Sherwin I. Seligsohn Annual											
Incentive											
Plan		131,891	351,710	769,365							
RSUs	3/6/2018_							1,440			175,896
<b>PSUs</b>	3/6/2018				180	1,440	2,880				172,253
Julia J.											
Brown,											
Ph.D.											
Annual											
Incentive											
Plan			510,405	1,116,511							
RSUs	3/6/2018_							2,090			255,294
PSUs	3/6/2018_				261	2,090	4,180				250,006
Mauro											
Premutico											
Annual											
Incentive		100 (04	245.665	756140							
Plan		-	345,665	756,142							
RSUs	3/6/2018							1,415			172,842
PSUs	3/6/2018_					1,415					169,260
									Plan available		-
									the Annual Inc		
			_						Compensation.' under the Ann		
					-		_		Compensation		
	_		_	pensation."		TOI Tui	mer acta	iii, see	Compensation	Discussion	anu
•				•		e achiev	ement of	f nre-esta	blished relativ	e nerforma	nce goals
									20. Half of the		
5 . J. u	J - car	r	P-1100		, -0		-0 000			- 5 5 5 5 77 6	

vest based on the achievement of cumulative revenue growth relative to cumulative revenue growth of the

Electronics Components Index, with the other half vesting based on the achievement of total shareholder return relative to total shareholder return of the companies in the NASDAQ Electronics Components Index. The PSU target awards are subject to a multiplier ranging from 0x to 2x based upon the percentile achievement with respect to each relative target.

(3) Consists of an award of time-based RSUs, which vest ratably one-third each year over three years on March 6, 2019, 2020, and 2021.

The RSUs and PSUs are also subject to the continued employment of the Named Executive Officers on the applicable vesting date.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

The following table summarizes the outstanding equity awards to the Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2018. None of the Named Executive Officers holds any outstanding stock options.

	Option Awards				Stock Aw	ards	Equity Incer	ntive Plan Awards
					Number			Market or
	Number				of		Number of	Payout
	of							
					Shares		Unearned	Value of
	Securities				of	Market Value	Shares,	Unearned
	Underlying				Stock		Units or	Shares, Units
					that	of Shares of	Other	or
	Unexercised							
					Have	Stock that	Rights	Other Rights
	Options				Not	Have	That Have	
	(#) Option		Option					That Have
					Vested	Not Vested	Not	
Name	Exercisation Principal	ice (\$)	Expiration	Date	e (#)	<sup>(1)</sup> (\$)	Vested (#)	Not Vested (\$)
Steven V. Abramson	_			—	107,871	10,093,489	13,587	1,271,336
Sidney D.								
Rosenblatt	_	_			107,871	10,093,489	13,587	1,271,336
Sherwin I. Seligsohn	<del></del>				3,810	356,502	6,577	615,410
Julia J. Brown,								
Ph.D.	_				80,529	7,535,099	9,544	893,032
Mauro Premutico	<del></del>			—	59,412	5,559,181	5,202	486,751

<sup>(1)</sup> Based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on December 31, 2018 (\$93.57).

Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table

The following table summarizes the vesting of stock, including restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock units, and similar instruments, for the Named Executive Officers during 2018. None of the Named Executive Officers exercised any stock options, SARs or other similar instruments during 2018.

Name

	Number of	Value Realized	Number of Shares	Value Realized
	Shares Acquired	on Exercise (\$) (1)	Acquired on Vesting (#)	on Vesting (\$) (2)
	on Exercise (#)			-
Steven V. Abramson	_	_	72,335	7,532,430
Sidney D. Rosenblatt	_	_	72,335	7,532,430
Sherwin I. Seligsohn		_	10,810	1,266,816
Julia J. Brown, Ph.D.		_	40,688	4,959,727
Mauro Premutico		_	26,719	2,782,641

<sup>(1)</sup> Based on the difference between the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the stock options or warrants exercised.

<sup>(2)</sup> Based on the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on the date of vesting. For each of the Named Executive Officers, the shares shown as vesting above include PSUs and RSUs vesting under long-term incentive equity awards made in 2015, and RSUs vesting under long-term incentive equity awards made in 2016 and 2017. For Mr. Abramson, Mr. Rosenblatt, Dr. Brown and Mr. Premutico, the shares shown as vesting above also include shares vesting under special long-term equity retention awards granted in prior years.

#### Pension Benefits Table

The following table provides information regarding the Company's Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, or SERP. For further detail, see "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Supplemental retirement benefits." Mr. Seligsohn does not participate in the SERP.

		Number of		
		Years		Payments
			Present Value of	During
		Credited	Accumulated	Last Fiscal
		Service	Benefit	Year
Name	Plan Name	(#)	(\$) <sup>(1)</sup>	(\$)
Steven V. Abramson	SERP	22	14,609,421	
Sidney D. Rosenblatt	SERP	22	12,355,508	
Julia J. Brown, Ph.D.	SERP	20	5,318,426	
Mauro Premutico	SERP	7	719,998	

<sup>(1)</sup> For information regarding the assumptions made in the valuations of these amounts, see Footnote 15 to the Company's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year.

Potential Payments Upon Termination in Connection with a Change in Control

In April 2003, the Company entered into Change in Control Agreements with the following Named Executive Officers: Mr. Abramson, Mr. Rosenblatt, Mr. Seligsohn and Dr. Brown (the "Original CIC Agreements"). These agreements provided for certain cash payments and other benefits to the Named Executive Officers upon a qualifying employment termination event in connection with a "Change in Control" of the Company. In November 2008, the Original CIC Agreements were amended and restated to bring them into compliance with Section 409A of the IRC and regulations issued thereunder.

The Amended and Restated CIC Agreements with each of Mr. Abramson, Mr. Rosenblatt, Mr. Seligsohn and Dr. Brown and the Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement entered into with Mr. Premutico in April 2012 (collectively, "Amended CIC Agreements") utilize a "double trigger" mechanism whereby benefits are not paid to an executive as a result of the Change in Control unless he or she also experiences a qualifying termination event in connection with the Change in Control (i.e., termination or substantial reduction in responsibilities).

Under the Amended CIC Agreements, if a Named Executive Officer's employment is terminated in connection with a Change in Control, such Named Executive Officer would be entitled to the following benefits:

- a lump-sum payment equal to two times the sum of the average annual base salary and the annual bonus to the individual, including any authorized deferrals, salary reduction amounts and any car allowance, and including the fair market dollar value equivalent of any bonus amounts paid in the form of stock options, SARs, warrants, stock awards or performance units;
- a lump-sum payment equal to the estimated after-tax premium cost to the individual of continuing any Company-sponsored life, travel or accident insurance and disability insurance coverage for the individual (and where applicable, his or her spouse and dependents), based on coverage levels in effect immediately prior to the termination date (less any contributions that would have been required by the individual), for two years;
- a lump-sum payment equal to the Company-provided contributions to which the individual would be entitled under the Company's 401(k) savings and retirement plans, assuming the individual continued working for the Company for two years at his or her annual base salary;

effective immediately preceding the Change in Control (but contingent upon the consummation of the Change in Control), full vesting of all outstanding, unvested equity awards held by the individual immediately preceding the Change in Control that have not yet become vested (and exercisable to the extent applicable), except the awards which vest based on the attainment of performance criteria would not automatically vest but would instead be governed by the terms of the plan or agreement evidencing the award;

continued group hospitalization, health and dental care coverage, at the level in effect as of the termination date (or generally comparable coverage) for the individual and, where applicable, the individual's spouse and dependents, for two years assuming the individual continued working for the Company;

a lump-sum payment equal to \$10,000 for outplacement assistance services for two years;

applicable SERP benefit payout; and

an additional payment to cover any excise tax imposed on the individual by reason of the individual receiving the payments and benefits specified above.

The estimated payments and benefits that the Company would provide to each Named Executive Officer under the Amended CIC Agreements are set forth in the following table, based on the assumption that his or her employment is terminated in connection with a Change in Control which took place on December 31, 2018.

						Estimate	ed				
				Lump		After-Ta	ax				
				Sum	Estimate	e <b>W</b> alue					
				Paymen	tValue	of					
				of	of	Ongoing	3				
				Estimate	e <b>O</b> ngoing	Paymen	ts				
					aContribi						
			Lump	Cost to	Under	Continu	e				
			Sum	Continu	eLong-Te	econtroup	Estimated				
	Lump		Payment	Life,	Incentiv	eMedical	,Value of				
	Sum	Lump	for	Travel	Savings	Health	Unvested			Value of	
	Payment	Sum	Accrued	and	and	and	Stock			Tax	
	of Two	Payment	and	Disabili	t <b>R</b> etirem	e <b>D</b> ental	Options and			Reimburse-n	nent
	Times	of Two	Unused	Insurance	Plans	Care	Stock	Payment	t	Payments	
	Annual	Times	Paid	for	for	Coverag	g <b>e</b> Awards	for		on Account	
	Base	Annual	Time	Two	Two	for	Subject to	Outplace	eSilfi RiPi	of Excise or	Total
	Salary <sup>(1)</sup>	Bonus <sup>(2)</sup>	Off and	Years	Years	Two	Accelerated	Assistan	<b>R</b> ayout	Other Taxes	Payments
			Sick			Years	Vesting <sup>(3)</sup>	Services	(4)		and
Name	(\$)	(\$)	Time (\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	Benefits (\$)
Steven V.											
Abramson	1,465,344	4,971,208	162,643	39,420	16,500	28,746	11,364,825	10,000	14,609,421	18,387,291	51,055,397
Sidney D.											
Rosenblatt	1,465,344	4,971,208	141,036	52,943	16,500	12,615	11,364,825	10,000	12,355,508	16,626,708	47,016,687
Sherwin I.											
Seligsohn	879,274	2,406,072	101,455	2,280	16,500	12,615	971,912	10,000	-	-	4,400,107
Julia J.											
Brown,											
Ph.D.	1,032,810	3,491,723	117,182	10,707	16,500	29,920	8,428,131	10,000	5,318,426	10,619,974	29,075,372
Mauro											
Premutico	876,162	1,773,545	69,345	6,902	16,500	40,575	6,045,932	10,000	719,998	5,470,289	15,029,247

- (1) Under the Amended CIC Agreements, this is to be based on the highest monthly base salary paid or payable to the employee during the twenty-four (24) months prior to December 31, 2018, including any amounts earned but deferred. It is also to include any annual car allowance. For purposes of this calculation, the employee's bi-weekly salary as of the payment period ended on December 31, 2018 was utilized. Also, an annual car allowance of \$6,000 is included for each Named Executive Officer.
- (2) Under the Amended CIC Agreements, this is to be based on the highest annual bonus to the employee for the last three full fiscal years prior to December 31, 2018, and is to include the fair market dollar value equivalent of any stock, restricted stock or stock options issued as bonus consideration, determined as of the date of issuance and without regard to any restrictions or vesting conditions.
- (3) Assumes all unvested or restricted stock options and stock awards, including performance-based grants, vest on termination of employment in connection with a Change of Control. See table under "Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table" for further detail. This amount does not include restricted stock (RSUs and PSUs) awarded in March 2019 as long term incentive compensation.

In consideration of receiving these payments and benefits, each Named Executive Officer has agreed not to compete with the Company for six months following his or her termination in connection with a Change in Control. Each Named Executive Officer has further agreed that, for two years following his or her termination he or she will not knowingly (i) solicit or recruit any of the Company's employees to compete with the Company, or (ii) divert or unreasonably interfere with the Company's business relationships with any of its suppliers, customers, partners or joint venturers with whom the individual had any involvement. In addition, each Named Executive Officer is required to execute a general release of all employment-related claims he or she may have against the Company in order to receive the payments and benefits specified under the Amended CIC Agreements. (Such restrictive covenants are in addition to, and not in lieu of, restrictive covenants to which each Named Executive Officer is subject in other agreements with the Company, such as equity grant agreements.)

As used in the Amended CIC Agreements, a Change in Control of the Company would occur if:

any person (or affiliated group of persons) first becomes the beneficial owner of securities of the Company (not including securities previously owned by such person(s) or any securities acquired directly from the Company) representing 30% or more of the then-outstanding voting securities of the Company; Universal Display Corporation • 2019 Proxy Statement • 26

the individuals who constitute our Board of Directors at the beginning of any 24-month period cease, for any reason other than death, to constitute at least a majority of our Board of Directors;

the Company consummates a merger or consolidation with any other corporation, except where the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to the merger or consolidation continue to represent at least 50% of the voting securities of the Company (or the surviving entity of the merger or consolidation or its parent), or where no person first becomes the beneficial owner of securities of the Company representing 30% or more of the then-outstanding voting securities of the Company;

the shareholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company, or an agreement is consummated for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of its assets, excluding a sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of its assets to an entity, at least 50% of the voting securities of which are owned by persons in substantially the same proportion as their ownership of the Company immediately prior to the sale; or

any person consummates a tender offer or exchange for voting stock of the Company and, directly or indirectly, becomes (in one or more transactions) the "beneficial owner" of securities of the Company representing a majority of the voting securities of the Company.

As used in the Amended CIC Agreements, a termination of a Named Executive Officer in connection with a Change in Control of the Company would include a termination of the Named Executive Officer's employment:

- by the Company at the time of or within two years after a Change in Control, other than for the individual's death or incapacity for a period of 12 consecutive months, or for cause;
- by the individual within two years after a Change in Control for (i) the Company's breach of the Amended CIC Agreement or any other material obligation of the Company to the individual, (ii) any significant reduction by the Company of the individual's authority, duties or responsibilities, (iii) any demotion or removal of the individual from his or her employment grade, compensation level or officer positions, or (iv) a relocation by more than 50 miles of the offices of the Company at which the individual principally works; and
- by either the Company or the individual during the one year period immediately preceding a Change in Control, unless the Company establishes by clear and convincing evidence that the termination was for good faith business reasons not related to the Change in Control.

Compensation of Directors

Attracting and retaining qualified individuals to serve on our Board of Directors is crucial for our long-term success. Our director compensation policies and practices are critical to our ability to accomplish this goal and to reward our independent non-employee directors for their service as members of the Board. Our non-employee director compensation is designed to offer competitive cash and equity compensation to attract and retain qualified directors and to align the interests of our directors with the long-term interests of our shareholders.

Our Board of Directors, guided by our Compensation Committee, periodically establishes the level of compensation for our non-employee directors. Directors who also are current officers or employees of the Company receive no additional compensation for service as directors.

To aid their review, the Board and Compensation Committee generally utilize the services of a compensation consultant, and in 2017 and 2018, the Board and Compensation Committee reviewed an analysis of director compensation prepared by Korn Ferry. Following this review in December 2017, the Board and Compensation Committee ultimately decided to keep the 2018 compensation for the independent directors for board and committee service in cash amounts and share amounts consistent with 2017 (and the prior seven years), but to continue to review the overall compensation methodology in subsequent years and consider alternatives. In December 2018, following the Board's review of an updated analysis by Korn Ferry, the Board and Compensation Committee recommended a revision to the compensation structure for independent directors, beginning with the December 2018 award of shares as described below.

From 2011 through 2018, the equity component of independent director compensation consisted of a fixed number of 5,000 shares annually as opposed to a fixed value, with such shares paid in equal installments of 1,250 shares at the end of each quarter. Our Board believed that providing a fixed number of shares as compensation meant that the directors also assumed the risk of stock price volatility for the following year, and aligned the directors' interests with those of the shareholders.

On December 14, 2017, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved 2018 compensation for the independent directors for board and committee service in cash amounts and share amounts consistent with 2017 levels. In addition to the fixed

annual shares described in the preceding paragraph, cash compensation to each independent member of the Board of Directors in 2018 consisted of \$40,000 in annual director fees (paid in cash in four quarterly installments), and each independent director who served in 2018 on a committee of the Board of Directors (other than as the committee chair) received additional cash compensation for such committee service in the following amounts: \$5,000 annually for any independent director serving as a member of the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee or the Compensation Committee and \$7,500 annually for any independent director serving as a member of the Audit Committee. Further, the chairs of the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and the Compensation Committee received \$10,000 in cash for such service and the chair of the Audit Committee received \$15,000 in cash for such service.

On December 13, 2018, following a review of an updated analysis of director compensation prepared by Korn Ferry, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors adopted a new program for 2019 compensation for the independent directors for board and committee service. For 2019, compensation for the independent members of our Board of Directors will include:

A cash award of \$45,000, payable in quarterly installments of \$11,250 each at the end of each calendar quarter of the year; and

An award of shares of the Common Stock having a dollar target value of \$200,000 as of the closing price of the date of approval, issuable in quarterly equal installments of shares each at the end of each calendar quarter of the year. Using the December 13, 2018 closing price, the target value resulted in a fractional share greater than 0.5, so the award was rounded up, resulting in an annual grant of 2,074 shares (for a total value of \$200,037) which will be paid out in quarterly installments at the end of each quarter in 2019.

Our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors also revised the amounts payable for service on each committee of the Board of Directors in 2019. Each of the Company's independent directors who serves as a member of one of the committees of the Board (other than the chair) in 2019 shall receive annual cash compensation for his or her service as a member of such committee in the following amounts: \$7,500 for a member of the Compensation Committee, \$10,000 for a member of the Audit Committee, and \$5,000 for each of the members of the Nominating Committee, Investment Committee and ESR Committee, and for members of such other committees of the Board as may be added in the future. Each of the Company's independent directors who serves as a chair of one of the committees of the Board shall receive an annual cash retainer (cash payment) in connection with his or her service as chair for 2019, in the following amounts: \$15,000 for the chair of the Compensation Committee, \$20,000 for the chair of the Audit Committee, and \$10,000 for each of the chairs of the Nominating Committee, Investment Committee and ESR Committee, and for the chair of such other committees of the Board as may be added in the future. Such cash retainers are to be paid in equal quarterly installments at the end of each calendar quarter of the year.

In addition, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved the payment of an annual cash retainer of \$15,000 to Ms. Gemmill for her service as Lead Independent Director, with such amount to be paid in equal quarterly installments at the end of each quarter of 2019. Ms. Gemmill did not receive any compensation in 2018 for her service as Lead Independent Director.

The following table provides information on the compensation of members of our Board of Directors (who are not Named Executive Officers) in 2018.

Name	Fees Earned	Stock	Option	All Other	Total (\$)
	Larned	Awards (\$)	Awards (\$) (1)	Compensation (\$)	
	or Paid				

	in Cash			
	(\$)			
Richard C. Elias	52,500	200,037 (2) 0	0	252,537
Elizabeth H. Gemmill	70,000	200,037 (2) 0	0	270,037
Rosemarie B. Greco	52,500	200,037 (2) 0	0	252,537
C. Keith Hartley	62,500	200,037 (2) 0	0	262,537
Lawrence Lacerte	57,500	200,037 (2) 0	0	257,537

- (1) There were no option awards made to any of our independent directors in 2018. As of December 31, 2018, none of the directors owned any options to purchase shares of our common stock.
- (2) At a meeting on December 13, 2018, the Board of Directors approved an award of shares having a target value of \$200,000 (subject to rounding up for any fractional share greater than 0.5) based on the closing price on the date of the meeting, to be issued in quarterly installments as compensation in 2019. The closing price of the Company's common stock was \$96.45 per share on the grant approval date of December 13, 2018, resulting in a grant of 2,074 shares (for a total value of \$200,037). These 2,074 shares will be issued in equal quarterly installments at the end of each quarter in 2019 provided such Director continues to serve on the Board as of such date. After the calculation of the number of shares based on the closing price on December 13, 2018, the number of shares is fixed and is not adjusted to reflect price fluctuations at the time of issuance. For information regarding the assumptions made in the valuations of these amounts, see Note 14 to the Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year.

### **Equity Compensation Plans**

The following table includes information on our equity compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements), both those previously approved and not approved by our shareholders, as of December 31, 2018:

Number of

	securities to	Weighted-	Number of	
	be issued	average	securities	
	upon	exercise	remaining	
	exercise	price of	available for	
	of		future	
	outstanding	outstanding	issuance	
	options,	options,	under equity	
	warrants and	warrants and	compensation	1
Plan Category Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	rights (#) 500	rights (\$) 10.04	plans (#) <sup>(1)</sup> 3,279,237	(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders Total	500	10.04	3,279,237	(2)

<sup>(1)</sup> Excludes securities reflected in the column entitled "Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights."

<sup>(2)</sup> Consists of 2,403,523 shares remaining available for issuance under the Company's Equity Compensation Plan and 875,714 shares remaining available for issuance under the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan. No more than 12,500 shares are subject to purchase by each participant during any three-month purchase period under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

#### PROPOSAL 2

#### ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, and Section 14A of the Exchange Act, our shareholders are entitled to vote to approve, on a non-binding, advisory basis, the compensation of our Named Executive Officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with SEC rules. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our Named Executive Officers and the philosophy, policies and practices described in this proxy statement.

In the Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, our Board of Directors recommended that our shareholders approve the frequency of continuing to hold this advisory vote on an annual basis, to provide our shareholders with the ability to express their views on our executive compensation policies and practices on a frequent basis. By their votes at our 2017 meeting, our shareholders agreed. Accordingly, we determined that future advisory shareholder votes on the compensation of the Company's named executive officers will be held every year until the next vote on the frequency of such advisory shareholder votes.

The compensation of our Named Executive Officers subject to the vote is disclosed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables, and the related narrative disclosure contained in this proxy statement. As discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we believe that our compensation policies and decisions are focused on pay-for-performance principles and strongly aligned with our shareholders' interests, consistent with current market practices. Compensation of our Named Executive Officers is designed to enable us to attract and retain talented and experienced executives to lead us successfully in a competitive environment.

Accordingly, our Board of Directors is asking our shareholders to indicate their support for the compensation of our Named Executive Officers as described in this proxy statement by casting a non-binding, advisory vote "FOR" the following resolution:

"RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Company's Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in this proxy statement pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and narrative discussion, is hereby APPROVED."

Because the vote is advisory, it is not binding on the Board of Directors or our Company. Nevertheless, the views expressed by the shareholders, whether through this vote or otherwise, are important to Company management and the Board and, accordingly, the Board and the Compensation Committee intend to consider the results of this vote in making determinations in the future regarding executive compensation arrangements.

Vote Required and Recommendation of our Board of Directors

This proposal will be approved if a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders, voting as a single class, are FOR approval. Abstentions on this proposal are not considered "votes cast" and will have no effect on the outcome of the vote. Similarly, broker non-votes are not considered "votes cast" with respect to this proposal and, therefore, will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION PROPOSED UNDER THIS PROPOSAL 2.

#### PROPOSAL 3

#### RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF KPMG LLP

### AS THE COMPANY'S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2019

At a meeting held on April 12, 2019, our Audit Committee recommended and approved the appointment of KPMG LLP ("KPMG") as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm to audit the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ending December 31, 2019. KPMG has served in this capacity since being engaged by us on July 30, 2002. We are seeking the ratification of our appointment of KPMG as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019 at the Annual Meeting.

We expect that a representative of KPMG will be present at the Annual Meeting and will be available to respond to appropriate questions. If this representative desires to do so, he or she will have the opportunity to make a statement at the Annual Meeting.

Vote Required and Recommendation of our Board of Directors

This proposal will be approved if a majority of the votes cast by all shareholders, voting as a single class, are FOR approval. Abstentions on this proposal are not considered "votes cast" and will have no effect on the outcome of the vote. Similarly, broker non-votes are not considered "votes cast" with respect to this proposal and, therefore, will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" ADOPTION OF THIS PROPOSAL 3.

Fees Billed by the Company's Independent Auditors

The audit and tax fees billed to the Company from KPMG for 2018 and 2017 are set forth in the table below:

	2018	2017
Fee Category	(\$)	(\$)
Audit Fees <sup>(1)</sup>	799,000	723,000
Audit Related Fees (2)	128,000	0
Tax Fees - Compliance (3)	18,000	51,000
Tax Fees - Other (4)	219,000	364,000
Other Fees	0	0
Total	1,164,000	1,138,000

- (1) "Audit Fees" relate to professional services rendered in connection with the audit of the Company's annual consolidated financial statements and internal controls over financial reporting, quarterly reviews of financial statements included in the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and a statutory audit of the Company's subsidiary in Hong Kong.
- (2) "Audit Related Fees" relate to accounting assistance with respect to ASC Topic 606.
- (3) "Tax Fees Compliance" relate to professional services rendered in connection with tax preparation relating to international tax returns and in connection with tax compliance matters primarily associated with business operations outside of the United States.

(4) "Tax Fees – Other" relate to tax consulting services on certain international and local matters.

The aggregate fees included in Audit Fees are fees billed for the fiscal year while the aggregate fees included in Tax Fees - Compliance and Tax Fees – Other are fees billed in the fiscal year.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee currently approves all engagements to provide both audit and non-audit services and has not established formal pre-approval policies or procedures. During 2018, our Audit Committee approved non-audit services, as defined by Rule 2-01(c)(4) of Regulation S-X, relating to tax consultation for assisting with tax matters associated with business operations outside of the United States and certain domestic tax matters, and tax compliance services.

#### SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

### Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The table below sets forth certain information, as of the Record Date, with respect to persons known by the Company to beneficially own more than five percent (5%) of any class of our voting securities.

		Number of Shares	Percentage
Title of Class Common Stock	Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)	Beneficially Owned (2)	Ownership (2)
	PRIMECAP Management Company (3)	4,715,819	10.0%
	The Vanguard Group (4)	3,889,779	8.2%
	BlackRock, Inc. (5)	3,754,887	8.0%
	Scott Seligsohn, Lori S. Rubenstein and Steven G. Winters (6)(7)	3,079,226	6.5%
	Waddell & Reed (8)	2,794,458	5.9%

#### Series A Nonconvertible

### Preferred Stock

American Biomimetics Corporation (7)(9) 200,000 100%

- (1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner is c/o Universal Display Corporation, 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618.
- (2) Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock and Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock beneficially owned by them. The percentage ownership for each beneficial owner listed above is based on 47,160,940 shares of our common stock and 200,000 shares of our Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock outstanding as of the Record Date. In accordance with SEC rules, options or warrants to purchase shares of our common stock that were exercisable as of the Record Date, or would become exercisable within 60 days thereafter, are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options or warrants for the purpose of computing such person's percentage ownership, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The numbers of shares of common stock listed do not include any shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options because none of the above persons holds any such options.
- (3) Represents shares of the Company's common stock beneficially owned as of December 31, 2018, based on a Schedule 13G/A filed by PRIMECAP Management Company on February 8, 2019. In such filing, PRIMECAP Management Company indicates that it has sole voting power with respect to 2,954,322 shares, shared voting power with respect to 0 shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 4,715,819 shares, and shared dispositive power with respect to 0 shares. The reported address is 177 E. Colorado Blvd., 11th Floor, Pasadena, CA 91105.
- (4) Represents shares of the Company's common stock beneficially owned as of December 31, 2018, based on a Schedule 13G/A filed by The Vanguard Group on February 11, 2019. In such filing, The Vanguard Group indicates that it has sole voting power with respect to 23,325 shares, shared voting power with respect to 7,374

- shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 3,863,187 shares, and shared dispositive power with respect to 26,592 shares. The reported address is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355.
- (5) Represents shares of the Company's common stock beneficially owned as of December 31, 2018, based on a Schedule 13G/A filed by BlackRock, Inc. on February 8, 2019 on behalf of BlackRock International Limited; BlackRock Advisors, LLC; BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V.; BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, National Association; BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited; BlackRock Financial Management, Inc.; BlackRock Asset Management Schweiz AG; BlackRock Investment Management, LLC; BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited; BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited; BlackRock Investment Management (Australia) Limited; BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited; and BlackRock Fund Advisors. In such filing, BlackRock, Inc. indicates that it has sole voting power with respect to 3,587,772 shares, shared voting power with respect to 0 shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 3,754,887 shares, and shared dispositive power with respect to 0 shares. The reported address is 55 East 52nd Street, New York, NY 10055.
- (6) Includes (a) 1,377,757 shares of our common stock owned by the Sherwin I. Seligsohn Irrevocable Indenture of Trust dated July 29, 1993, FBO Scott Seligsohn (the "Seligsohn Trust"), of which Lori S. Rubenstein, Scott Seligsohn and Steven G. Winters are co-trustees; (b) 1,300,000 shares of our common stock owned by the Sherwin I. Seligsohn Irrevocable Indenture of Trust dated

July 29, 1993, FBO Lori S. Rubenstein (the "Rubenstein Trust"), of which Lori S. Rubenstein, Scott Seligsohn and Steven G. Winters are co-trustees; (c) 136,000 shares of our common stock owned by American Biomimetics Corporation, of which the Rubenstein Trust and Seligsohn Trust are the principal shareholders; (d) 145,469 shares of our common stock owned directly by Mr. Scott Seligsohn; (e) 60,000 shares of our common stock owned directly by Scott Seligsohn Grantor Retained Annuity Trust #1 Scott Seligsohn, Trustee; and (f) 60,000 shares of our common stock owned directly by Ms. Rubenstein. Mr. Scott Seligsohn is Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn's adult son and Ms. Lori S. Rubenstein is Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn's adult daughter.

- (7) The address of these beneficial owners is c/o Cozen O'Connor, 1900 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19103.
- (8) Represents shares of the Company's common stock beneficially owned as of December 31, 2018, based on a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 14, 2019 on behalf of Waddell & Reed Financial, Inc. ("WDR") and Ivy Investment Management Company ("IICO"). In such filing, each indicated it has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to the number of shares set forth behind its name: WDR (2,794,458; indirect); and IICO (2,794,458; direct). In such filing, each also indicated that it has shared voting power and shared dipositive power with respect to 0 shares. The reported address for each is 6300 Lamar Avenue, Overland Park, KS 66202.
- (9) Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn, our Founder and Chairman of our Board of Directors, serves as a director and as President and Secretary of American Biomimetics Corporation, which owns all 200,000 shares of our Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock.

Security Ownership of Management

The table below sets forth certain information, as of the Record Date, with respect to the beneficial ownership of any class of our equity securities beneficially owned by all directors, nominees for director and Named Executive Officers of the Company, as well as all executive officers of the Company and directors as a group.

		Number of Shares  Beneficially Owned (2)		Percentage
Title of Class Common Stock	Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)			Ownership (2)
Common Stock	Sherwin I. Seligsohn	250,690	(3)	*
	Steven V. Abramson	294,851	(4)	*
	Sidney D. Rosenblatt	387,551	(5)(6)(7)	*
	Richard C. Elias	21,768	(8)	*
	Elizabeth H. Gemmill	117,388	(0)	*
	Rosemarie B. Greco	11,218		*
	C. Keith Hartley	103,345	(9)(10)	*
	Lawrence Lacerte	325,518	(11)	*
	Julia J. Brown, Ph.D.	124,018		*
	Mauro Premutico	73,429		*
	All directors and executive			
	officers as a group (11 persons)	1,751,658		3.7%
Series A Nonconvertible				
Preferred Stock	Sherwin I. Seligsohn	200,000	(12)	100%

- \*Represents less than 1% of our outstanding common stock.
- (1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner is c/o Universal Display Corporation, 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618.
- (2) Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock beneficially owned by them. The percentage ownership for each beneficial owner listed above is based on 47,160,940 shares of our common stock and 200,000 shares of our Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock outstanding as of the Record Date. In accordance with SEC rules, options to purchase shares of our common stock that were exercisable as of the Record Date, or would become exercisable within 60 days thereafter, are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options for the purpose of computing such person's percentage ownership, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The numbers of shares of common stock listed do not include any shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options because none of the above persons holds any such options.
- (3) Includes 136,000 shares of our common stock owned by American Biomimetics Corporation, of which Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn serves as a director and President and Secretary. Also includes 21,000 shares of our common stock owned by The Seligsohn Foundation, of which Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn is the sole trustee. Does not include (i) 1,300,000 shares of our

common stock owned by the Rubenstein Trust; (ii) 1,377,757 shares of our common stock owned by the Seligsohn Trust; (iii) 60,000 shares of our common stock owned by Ms. Lori S. Rubenstein; (iv) 145,469 shares of our common stock owned by Mr. Scott Seligsohn; and (v) 60,000 shares of our common stock owned directly by Scott Seligsohn Grantor Retained Annuity Trust #1 Scott Seligsohn, Trustee, as to which in each case Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn disclaims beneficial ownership.

- (4) Includes an aggregate 84,952 shares held by the following Grantor Retained Annuity Trust that each holds the number of shares set forth behind its name: The Steven V. Abramson July 2016 Annuity Trust dated as of July 18, 2016 (25,736 shares), The Steven V. Abramson July 2017 Annuity Trust dated as of July 19, 2017 (22,607 shares), The Steven V. Abramson July 2018 Annuity Trust dated as of July 27, 2018 (30,609 shares), The Steven V. Abramson December 2017 Annuity Trust dated as of December 26, 2017 (2,599 shares), and The Steven V. Abramson December 2018 Annuity Trust dated as of December 26, 2018 (3,401 shares). Mr. Abramson is trustee and beneficiary of each of the foregoing trusts.
- (5) Includes 23,000 shares of our common stock held by Mr. Rosenblatt's spouse and being reported as beneficially owned by him.
- (6) Includes 50,356 shares of our common stock held by the Rosenblatt Family Limited Partnership, a limited partnership of which Mr. Rosenblatt is the sole general partner and he and his children are the sole limited partners, and being reported as beneficially owned by him.
- (7) Includes an aggregate 69,938 shares held by the following Grantor Retained Annuity Trusts that each holds the number of shares set forth behind its name: The Sidney Rosenblatt June 2016 Annuity Trust dated as of June 20, 2016 (4,649 shares), The Sidney Rosenblatt July 2017 Annuity Trust dated as of July 19, 2017 (39,240 shares), The Sidney Rosenblatt December 2017 Annuity Trust dated as of December 26, 2017 (2,599 shares), The Sidney Rosenblatt September 2018 Annuity Trust dated as of September 4, 2018 (20,049 shares), and The Sidney Rosenblatt December 2018 Annuity Trust dated as of December 26, 2018 (3,401 shares). Mr. Rosenblatt is trustee and beneficiary of these Grantor Retained Annuity Trusts.
- (8) Includes 20,000 shares of our common stock held by the Elias 2018 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust. Mr. Elias is trustee and beneficiary of this Grantor Retained Annuity Trust.
- (9) Includes 22,800 shares of our common stock owned by Mr. Hartley's Defined Benefit Pension Plan.
- (10) 68,849 shares of common stock held by Mr. Hartley are pledged as collateral for margin accounts.
- (11) These shares of common stock held by Mr. Lacerte are pledged as security for a margin loan.
- (12) Mr. Sherwin I. Seligsohn is a director, President and Secretary of American Biomimetics Corporation, which owns all 200,000 shares of our Series A Nonconvertible Preferred Stock.

### CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

### Our Relationship with Scott Seligsohn

We employ Scott Seligsohn, son of Sherwin I. Seligsohn, as an executive assistant to Sherwin I. Seligsohn in his capacity as our Founder and Chairman of the Board of Directors. In 2018, we paid Scott Seligsohn a base salary and bonus compensation of \$100,020.

Policies and Procedures for Approval of Related Person Transactions

Consistent with applicable NASDAQ listing requirements, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing all transactions between us and related persons for potential conflicts of interest on an ongoing basis, and for approving all such transactions. Related persons include any of our directors or nominees for director, any of our executive officers, any shareholders owning more than 5% of any class of our equity securities, and immediate family members of any of these persons.

To help identify transactions with related persons, each year, we submit and require our directors and executive officers to complete Director and Officer Questionnaires identifying any transactions with us in which they or their

family members have an interest. Responses to these Director and Officer Questionnaires are reviewed and transactions that might reasonably pose a conflict of interest are brought to the attention of the Audit Committee for consideration. No new related person transactions were disclosed on the Director and Officer Questionnaires completed in February 2019. In addition, the Company legal department reviews all new Company contracts and has not identified any new related person transactions.

The transactions with the related persons identified above are reviewed with our Audit Committee on a regular basis, most recently at a meeting of the Audit Committee on April 12, 2019. At this meeting, the Audit Committee ratified the above transaction following its consideration of the potential conflicts of interest.

### SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, as well as persons beneficially owning more than 10% of any class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC reports of beneficial ownership and reports of changes in beneficial

ownership of these equity securities. Based solely on our review of these reports as furnished to us during or with respect to 2018, we believe that our executive officers, directors and holders of more than 10% of any class of our equity securities met all applicable filing requirements.

### RISK OVERSIGHT BY OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The role of our Board of Directors in our risk oversight process includes receiving regular reports from members of management on areas of material risk to us, including operational, financial, legal and strategic risks. Our Board of Directors also works to oversee risk through its consideration and authorization of significant matters, such as major strategic, operational and financial initiatives and its oversight of management's implementation of those initiatives.

In particular, our Audit Committee is tasked pursuant to its charter "to discuss with management and the Company's independent auditor, as appropriate, the Company's risk assessment and risk management policies, including the Company's major exposures to financial risk and the steps taken by management to monitor and mitigate such exposures." As appropriate, the Chair of the Audit Committee reports to the full Board of Directors on the activities of the Audit Committee in this regard, allowing the Audit Committee and the full Board to coordinate their risk oversight activities.

In its risk oversight capacity, our Board of Directors and Audit Committee engage in various practices, including, without limitation:

reviewing and considering reports from and information provided by management to the Board and its committees on topics relating to the risks that we face, including, without limitation, the status of current and anticipated developments of our technology, access to debt and equity capital markets, existing and potential legal claims against us and various other matters relating to our business;

the direct oversight of specific areas of our business by our Compensation Committee and Audit Committee; and reviewing and considering reports from, and information provided by, our auditors and other outside consultants regarding various areas of potential risk, including, among others, those relating to our compensation practices and our internal control over financial reporting.

As one component of our risk oversight and anti-fraud program, our Audit Committee has established complaint reporting procedures described in the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com. These procedures indicate how to submit complaints to our Audit Committee regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. Once received, grievances are reviewed by our President and Vice President of Legal, and then forwarded to the Chair of the Audit Committee for consideration. Questions or concerns may also be submitted anonymously to the Audit Committee in writing, via an unsigned letter, or employees may submit such matters through a name-protected online process administered by a third-party service provider.

#### ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct for Employees

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct ("Employee Code") applicable to all officers and employees, which was last revised and approved at a meeting of our Board of Directors on April 12, 2019. The Employee Code constitutes our "code of ethics" for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller within the meaning of applicable SEC rules and also serves as our "code of conduct" applicable to all officers and employees of the Company as required by applicable NASDAQ listing standards. On an annual basis (most recently in October 2018), all of our employees are asked to review and affirm their knowledge and understanding of the Employee Code. Our Employee Code is publicly available through the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com.

If we make any substantive amendments to our Employee Code (other than technical, administrative, or other non-substantive amendments), or if we grant any waivers of the Employee Code (including implicit waivers) in favor of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller, we will disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver, its effective date and to whom it applies in that same location on our website, or in a current report on Form 8-K that we file with the SEC. In addition, any waiver of our Employee Code with respect to our executive officers must be approved by our Board of Directors.

#### Code of Conduct for Directors

Our Board of Directors has adopted a "Code of Conduct for Directors" that serves as our "code of conduct" applicable to all of our directors as required by applicable NASDAQ listing requirements. The Code of Conduct for Directors was last ratified by our Board of Directors at a meeting held on April 12, 2019. Our Code of Conduct for Directors is publicly available through the "Shareholders

— Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com. Any waiver of our Code of Conduct for Directors must be approved by our Board of Directors and will be disclosed as required under applicable regulations.

### Corporate Governance Guidelines

Our Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee has developed, and our Board of Directors has adopted, Corporate Governance Guidelines to assist the Board of Directors in the exercise of its responsibilities and to serve the interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Corporate Governance Guidelines reflect the Board's commitment to monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision making both at the Board and management level, with a view to enhancing long-term shareholder value.

The Corporate Governance Guidelines were last ratified by our Board of Directors at a meeting held on December 13, 2018 and are publicly available through the "Shareholders — Corporate Governance" section of our website at www.oled.com.

### Corporate Responsibility

The Company has long been committed to strict adherence to all applicable laws and regulations relating to the operation and governance of its business, including those pertaining to environmental and social policy matters. The Company believes that the implementation of environmentally and socially responsible business practices can provide significant long-term business advantages.

The Company integrates health, safety, and environmental considerations into all aspects of its business, including product design, responsible manufacture and customer use, to ensure compliance with all applicable government regulations and standards, a safe and healthy workplace, and a responsible environmental footprint in the context of a growing enterprise. The Company believes it has developed effective EHS management systems, and the Company obtained ISO14001:2015 certified systems in 2018.

The Company is working to provide our shareholders with improved disclosure regarding our environmental and social policies and practices. In 2018, the Company issued its first Corporate Responsibility Report for the year ended December 31, 2017, which we will update annually. Our Corporate Responsibility Report is available at the "Shareholders — Corporate Responsibility" section of our website at www.oled.com.

To further demonstrate the Company's commitment to corporate responsibility, in December 2018 our Board created an Environmental & Social Responsibility Committee of the Board. This Committee will review the Company's activities with respect to the environment, social issues and sustainability. We also recently made public certain Company policies with respect to some of these areas, as described below.

### Supply Chain

The Company is committed to responsible sourcing and ethical business practices. Our proprietary phosphorescent OLED materials are exclusively made for us by PPG Industries ("PPG"). We regularly visit and audit PPG's manufacturing sites (Monroeville, PA and Barberton, OH) to review the quality, environmental, safety, and working conditions of PPG's production and procurement processes. Our Quality Management Systems (QMS) Policy is available at www.oled.com under "Who We Are — EHS and QMS Policies."

The Company believes that environmental, social and ethical performance of our suppliers is critical to long-term success and sustainability. We have published a Global Supplier Code of Conduct to make clear our expectations for our suppliers, and a Conflict Minerals Policy to demonstrate our commitment to ensuring that that our products do not

contain, and are not made using, Conflict Minerals (as defined in the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act). Our Global Supplier Code of Conduct and Conflict Minerals Policy are available at www.oled.com under "Shareholders — Corporate Responsibility."

Workplace Diversity and Inclusion; Employment Practices

The Company is committed to creating a workplace that encourages and embraces diversity and inclusion. We are an equal opportunity employer, and we believe that a diverse workforce made up of people with different ideas, strengths, interests and cultural backgrounds drives employee and business success. The Company's global workforce is composed of scientists, engineers, technicians and business professionals from twenty-five (25) different countries spanning five (5) different continents.

The Company also strives to create a workplace using appropriate labor practices in which open and honest communication among all employees is encouraged and valued. Our Fair Labor Practices policy provides improved disclosure of our practices and demonstrates our commitment to fair labor laws and principles. We also recognize and respect the right of employees to freely join, or refrain from joining, third-party labor associations in a manner consistent with applicable laws, without fear of reprisal, intimidation or harassment, as described in our Freedom of Association policy. These policies are available at www.oled.com under "Shareholders — Corporate Responsibility."

Environmental Health and Safety (EHS)

The Company seeks to achieve excellence for its EHS program through employee involvement at all levels, with robust management systems and focus on continuous improvement. Management leadership and employee engagement in all processes and programs is central for our exemplary compliance record. Key elements of our EHS management system include worksite analysis, hazard

prevention and control, training, and pollution prevention and control. We are committed to conducting all aspects of operations in a manner that protects our employees, visitors, and contractors as well as the people, property, and environment of the communities in which we operate.

We know that our employees are our most valuable assets, and their safety and health are among our top priorities. Our excellent safety record (detailed in our Corporate Responsibility Report) is attributable to our employees' diligence, our training programs, and safety policy management. Our EHS Policy is available at www.oled.com under "Who We Are — EHS and QMS Policies."

### Community Development

The Company fosters a culture of giving that makes a positive difference to our local community. At our headquarters in Ewing, New Jersey, Company-sponsored activities throughout the year include clothing and food collection drives, weekly meal donations to a local soup kitchen, and onsite blood drives. Our charitable match program encourages and supports the causes and organizations that are important to the Company's employees. Through this program, the Company matches monetary donations dollar-for-dollar to eligible nonprofit organizations, up to a total of \$1,000 per year for each full-time employee at our New Jersey headquarters.

The Company does not make political contributions to candidates or political parties, nor does it make any direct lobbying expenditures. Prior approval from the Company's President is required before any Company funds can be used for lobbying purposes. The Company does not control, direct or influence any employee's political activities or affiliations. Our Political Involvement Policy is available at www.oled.com under "Shareholders — Corporate Responsibility."

### SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Shareholders may submit proposals to us on matters appropriate for shareholder action at our 2020 annual meeting of shareholders in accordance with regulations adopted by the SEC. Proposals must be received by December 27, 2019 to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement and form of proxy for our 2019 annual meeting of shareholders. Shareholder proposals received by us after March 11, 2020 will be deemed "untimely," and proxy holders will have the right to exercise discretionary voting authority with respect to such proposals.

All shareholder proposals must be in writing and must comply with the notice, information and consent provisions contained in our Amended and Restated Bylaws. Proposals should be directed to the attention of our Corporate Secretary at Universal Display Corporation, 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618.

#### ANNUAL REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

A copy of our 2018 Annual Report to Shareholders, containing financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, is available free of charge at ir.oled.com. A paper copy of our 2018 Annual Report may be obtained, without charge, by writing to us at Universal Display Corporation, 375 Phillips Boulevard, Ewing, New Jersey 08618, Attn: Corporate Secretary.

Sincerely,

By: /s/ Sidney D. Rosenblatt

Sidney D. Rosenblatt

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,

Treasurer and Secretary

Ewing, New Jersey

April 25, 2019

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORPORATION June 20, 2019 Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be Held on June 20, 2019 The proxy statement and our 2018 Annual Report to Shareholders are available at ir.oled.com. Please sign, date and mail your proxy card in the envelope provided as soon as possible. Signature of Shareholder Date: Signature of Shareholder Date: Note: Please sign exactly as your name or names appear on this Proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, administrator, attorney, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such. If the signer is a corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized officer, giving full title as such. If signer is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person. To change the address on your account, please check the box at right and indicate your new address in the address space above. Please note that changes to the registered name(s) on the account may not be submitted via this method. The shares represented by this proxy, if it is properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein by the undersigned shareholder(s). If no direction is made, the shares represented by this proxy will be voted "FOR" all nominees for director, "FOR" Proposal 2, and "FOR" Proposal 3. To the extent permissible under applicable law, this proxy also delegates discretionary authority to vote on any matter that may properly come before the meeting, or any postponements or adjournments thereof. 1. Election of the seven directors proposed in the accompanying Proxy Statement, each to serve for a one-year term and until a successor is selected and qualified. NOMINEES: 1(a) Steven V. Abramson 1(b) Richard C. Elias 1(c) Elizabeth H. Gemmill 1(d) C. Keith Hartley 1(e) Lawrence Lacerte 1(f) Sidney D. Rosenblatt 1(g) Sherwin I. Seligsohn 2. Advisory resolution to approve compensation of the Company's named executive officers, 3. Ratification of the appointment of KPMG LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for 2019. FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" THE ELECTION OF NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR, "FOR" PROPOSAL 2, AND" FOR" PROPOSAL 3. PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. PLEASE MARK YOUR VOTE IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS SHOWN HERE x Please detach along perforated line and mail in the ----- e n v e l o p e p r o v i d e d . ------ 0000333333300303000 8 062019 GO GREEN e-Consent makes it easy to go paperless. With e-Consent, you can quickly access your proxy material, statements and other eligible documents online, while reducing costs, clutter and paper waste. Enroll today via www.astfinancial.com to enjoy online access. FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

0 ------ 14475 UNIVERSAL DISPLAY CORPORATION PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS ON JUNE 20, 2019 THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS The undersigned hereby appoints Steven V. Abramson and Sidney D. Rosenblatt, jointly and severally, as proxies, each with power to appoint a substitute, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side, all of the shares of common stock of Universal Display Corporation held of record by the undersigned on April 5, 2019, at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 20, 2019, or any postponements or adjournments thereof. PLEASE COMPLETE AND SIGN THIS PROXY ON THE REVERSE SIDE AND RETURN YOUR PROXY PROMPTLY (Continued and to be signed on the reverse side) Directions to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders Address: Element Ewing Princeton Hotel, 1000 Sam Weinroth Road East, Ewing, NJ 08628 FROM New York and New Jersey via NJ Turnpike North/South: Take exit 7A off the NJ Turnpike to I-195 West. Continue on to I-295 North (Princeton). Take exit 73A-B (old I-95 exits 3B-A) for Scotch Rd. and keep left at the fork to continue on Exit 73B. Follow signs for Scotch Rd South and merge onto Scotch Rd. Once on Scotch Rd, in about 500ft bear to the right to get onto Sam Weinroth Rd. At the stop sign, turn left onto Sam Weinroth Rd. Cross the traffic light and the hotel will be on the right. FROM Philadelphia, PA: Take I-95 North, which will become I-295 East, into NJ. Take exit 73B-A (old I-95 exits 3A-B) for Scotch Rd and keep right at the fork to continue on Exit 73B. Follow signs for Scotch Rd South/General Aviation and merge onto Scotch Rd. Once on Scotch Rd, in about 500ft bear to the right to get onto Sam Weinroth Rd. At the stop sign, turn left onto Sam Weinroth Rd. Cross the traffic light and the hotel will be on the right, FROM Washington DC: Take 495 towards I-95 North, Continue on I-95 N into New Jersey, Take exit 73B-A (old I-95 exits 3A-B) for Scotch Rd. and keep right at the fork to continue on Exit 73B. Follow signs for Scotch Rd South/General Aviation and merge onto Scotch Rd. Once on Scotch Rd, in about 500ft bear to the right to get onto Sam Weinroth Rd. At the stop sign, turn left onto Sam Weinroth Rd. Cross the traffic light and the hotel will be on the

right. 1.1